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PENSION SCHEMES ACT 1993, PART X

DETERMINATION BY THE PENSIONS OMBUDSMAN
	Applicant:
	Miss Jacqueline Pearson

	Scheme:
	Parsons Group International Limited Pension & Life Assurance Scheme (the Scheme)

	Respondents:
	Parsons Energy and Chemicals Group Limited (the Company)

	
	The Trustees of the Parsons Group International Limited Pension & Life Assurance Scheme (the Trustees)


MATTERS FOR DETERMINATION 

1. Miss Pearson makes the following complaints against the Company and the Trustees:

1.1. The Trustees failed to obtain the necessary level of contributions from the Company in respect of the closure of the Scheme in 1998;

1.2. Two of the Trustees, Mr Curtis Bower and Mr Greg Ayres committed breaches of trust by putting the Company’s and their own interests ahead of those of the Scheme beneficiaries;

1.3. The Company breached its implied obligation of trust and confidence in respect of its employees by refusing to fund the Scheme adequately and by other related conduct;

1.4. The Trustees wrongly failed to demand the full amount of the Scheme deficit in the context of an imminent winding up and should not have agreed to a Bradstock style compromise with the Company;

1.5. The Company’s failure to provide members of the Scheme with their full scale benefits amounts to a breach of their contracts of Employment;

1.6. The Company’s failure to provide Miss Pearson with her full scale benefits under the Scheme amounts to a breach of a separate guarantee given to Miss Pearson by the Company;

1.7. The Trustees’ investment decisions since the closure of the Scheme should be investigated; 

1.8. The issue by the Trustees to the members of the Scheme of a disclaimer in 2004 constituted an impermissible attempt to force the Scheme members to relinquish their rights under the Scheme; and

1.9. The Trustees wrongly led Miss Pearson to believe that the cost of their defending her complaint to my office would be met from the Scheme’s assets when the Compromise Agreement, of which the Trustees were fully aware, contained a clause indemnifying the Trustees for such costs.

2. In view of the complex nature of many aspects of her application, Miss Pearson has sought legal advice, and she asks that the costs so incurred be met by whichever respondent may be found liable in my determination. 

3. A number of other members of the scheme have brought similar complaints to those made by Miss Pearson. I have taken account of their submissions in reaching my conclusions.

Parsons Corporation and BLP

4. Miss Pearson has argued that I should also investigate the conduct of Parsons Corporation and the Company’s legal advisers, BLP.  I take the view, however, that neither of these parties can be said to have been concerned with the administration of the Scheme so as to bring them within my jurisdiction. In reaching that view I have taken account of the decision in Britannic Asset Management Ltd v The Pensions Ombudsman [2002] 4 All ER 860.

5. Section 275 of the Pensions Act 2004 effectively changed the law to include within my jurisdiction not just persons concerned with the administration of the scheme but others who carry out administrative acts. The change is not, however, retrospective and I have therefore reached the above decision in the light of the law as it was before that section came into operation. 

6. Parsons Corporation’s main involvement was effectively to control the level of funding which the Company could make to the Scheme.  While that level of funding would inevitably impact on decisions made by the Company in respect of the Scheme, it was, as a matter of law, always the Company (where relevant, in conjunction with the Trustees) that made the decisions and not Parsons Corporation.  Accordingly, I take the view that Parsons Corporation was neither administering the Scheme nor concerned with its administration beyond the provision of finance to the Company. On that basis Parsons Corporation does not lie within my jurisdiction. 
7. On the evidence I have seen, I have not been satisfied that BLP has been involved in the administration of the Scheme beyond providing legal advice to the Company and then to the Trustees.  The mere provision of legal advice which is then accepted or rejected as the case may be, does not, without more, constitute the legal adviser as being concerned in the administration of a pension scheme so as to bring that adviser within my jurisdiction.  There is a line to be drawn between being an adviser and being an administrator and BLP has not crossed that line.

8. Some of the issues before me might be seen as complaints of maladministration while others can be seen as disputes of fact or law and indeed, some may be both.  I have jurisdiction over either type of issue and it is not usually necessary to distinguish between them.  This determination should therefore be taken to be the resolution of any disputes of facts or law and/or (where appropriate) a finding as to whether there had been maladministration and if so whether injustice has been caused.

MATERIAL FACTS

9.  For present purposes, there are two material periods of time: the run up to the closure of the Scheme in 1998 and the events surrounding the decision to commence the winding up of the Scheme in 2001.

Closure of the Scheme

10. In or around March 1997, the Company and the Trustees instructed Sedgwick Noble Lowndes Limited (SNL), who was the Scheme Actuary, to prepare a paper analysing the liabilities of the Scheme and to adopt an investment strategy which would match assets to liabilities over the medium to long term in keeping with the minimum funding requirements (MFR) imposed by the Pensions Act 1995 (the 1995 Act). 

11. In September 1997 SNL prepared a list of key points for the Company and Trustees to consider in relation to the closure of the Scheme and the setting up of a new defined contribution (DC) pension scheme.  A meeting took place on 22 September 1997 between SNL and Mr Greg Ayres, Finance Director of the Company.  According to the notes of the meeting prepared by Mr Mike Sarjeant of SNL, its purpose was:

“To review the key decisions required to establish a new defined contribution Plan from the perspective of the Company, the old Trustees and the new Trustees.”

12. A further meeting took place between SNL and the Company in October 1997 to consider the approach of the Company towards future pension provision.  Present at the meeting were Mr Ayres, Mr Curtis Bower (Chief Finance Officer of Parsons Corporation, the parent of the Company) and Mr Ray Bettis (UK Human Resources Manager). 

13. The Trustees of the Scheme (Mr Ayres, Mr Bower, Mr David Huggins and Mr John Camp) met on 7 November 1997. The minutes of the Trustees’ meeting record that the Trustees resolved to request sight of the information that had been provided to the Company by SNL and which had been discussed at their meeting on 22 September 1997.  

14. On 16 January 1998 a meeting took place at which Mr Ayres, Mr Huggins and Mr Camp were present in their capacity as Trustees, together with Mr Terry Hazell (the Company’s pensions manager), Mr Mike Sarjeant of SNL and Ms Diane Preston of Lovell White Durrant, the Trustees’ legal adviser.  At this meeting, Ms Preston advised that:

14.1. The decision to wind up the Scheme was not one for the Trustees to make because the Company had the power under the Scheme’s Trust Deed to give notice to terminate the Scheme.  
14.2. Following such an event, the Trustees then had a number of duties in relation to the winding up, including the need to determine whether to continue the Scheme as a Frozen Scheme, as defined in the Scheme Rules.  
14.3. The Scheme was not fully funded and, therefore, the winding up liabilities might not be met in full.  If this proved to be the case, the Trustees must request that the Company provide further funds to ensure that the winding up liabilities could be met, irrespective of section 75 of the 1995 Act (section 75).  
15. The note prepared by Ms Preston also records:

“MS had, during the course of the meeting, asked whether the Trustees should change the investments now to more closely match assets to liabilities.  DP advised that if the Trustees did this before receiving notice of winding up they could subsequently be alleged to be acting together with the Company in agreeing the winding up.  DP said they could be challenged on this as the winding up is not in the best interests of members.  DP advised that the Trustees should write to the Company stating that they have reviewed the copy papers of the meeting of 17 October and that they have met to discuss the implications of those papers.  …. If the Company sets out its intentions and identifies that it intends winding up then the Trustees could, at that point, request that the Company takes alternative decisions e.g. to continue as a closed scheme or convert the existing scheme and that at the very least if it proceeds with winding up it should make up any shortfall”.

16. On 9 March 1998 the Trustees (that is, Mr Ayres, Mr Huggins and Mr Camp) wrote to the Directors of the Company, noting that they were concerned about a proposal to wind up the Scheme, and requesting that the Company advise the Trustees whether any changes to pension arrangements had been decided by the Company and if so, what they were. 

17. The Company, through Mr Ayres, in his capacity as Director and Company Secretary, responded to the Trustees’ letter on 8 April 1998.  He informed the Trustees that the Company had decided to implement the following, as an alternative to the ‘more drastic measure’ of winding up:

17.1. The establishment of a new DC plan, to provide benefits for all active members of the Scheme, together with any future, eligible employees;

17.2. The closure of the Scheme to new employees from the effective date of the new plan;

17.3. Amendment to the Scheme Rules to allow all members to become deferred members as from the establishment of the new scheme;

17.4. The continuation of funding for the Scheme, in line with actuarial advice and the requirements of the 1995 Act. 

18. On 5 May 1998 Ms Preston wrote to advise the Trustees.  She stated that:

“It is clear from the information that has been given to the Trustees that the Company is not threatening to wind up merely as a negotiating tactic but is genuinely considering it as the only other practical alternative to securing the Trustees’ consent to the proposed amendments…

…In reaching a decision as to whether to agree to the Company’s proposals the Trustees must consider in respect of each category of member (i.e. actives, deferreds and pensioners) whether agreeing to the proposed amendments is preferable to taking no action and allowing the Company to initiate a wind-up.  Before making this comparison the Trustees must consider their duties and responsibilities under the Rules.”

19. A meeting of the Trustees took place on 22 May 1998 at which Mr Ayres, Mr Huggins and Mr Camp were present together with Mr Bower by telephone, Mr Nick Dodd and Mr Sarjeant of SNL and Ms Preston.  The purpose of the meeting was to consider an appropriate response to the Company’s letter of 8 April.  From this meeting I have noted:

19.1. The debt triggered on winding up the scheme was said to be  £2m; Mr Bower said that as a senior officer of the Company, he was aware that if the Trustees did not agree the amendments and the Company was forced to wind up the Scheme it would not fund the new DC scheme on a non-contributory basis;

19.2. Ms Preston suggested that the Trustees should require a guarantee of a minimum period for the Company to continue contributing to the Scheme, but Mr Bower commented that he personally was against that as he felt that the Company could interpret that as a trigger to terminate liability immediately the guarantee period was over: the other Trustees agreed with him, but decided to defer a final decision;

19.3. In relation to a proposal that the Trustees should ask the Company to consider guaranteeing the annuity rates for all existing members up to the threshold represented by those rates prevailing at July 1993, the minutes of the meeting record the following:

“CB suggested that the Trustees had to recognise the Company objective and that the Trustees cannot ignore this.  The Company’s objective is to achieve a predictable stable cost.  This suggestion, if granted, would introduce further uncertainty into the funding.  GA countered by saying that the suggestion was that the Company introduce a floor annuity promise, or something that equated to a ‘no worse off’ situation regarding the combination of investment annuity risk for members (i.e. not total unpredictability).  DP advised that although the Trustees should not be ignorant of the Company’s position, the Trustees must act in accordance with their duty as Trustees.  Accordingly, they had to consider what is in the interests of members of the Scheme and to act accordingly.  DP further advised that it is therefore proper for the Trustees to make any request that they consider appropriate and in the interests of members and that if the Trustees did not make those requests they could be accused of failing in their duties.  It is then a separate matter whether the Company concedes to these requests but the Company certainly would not do so if the requests were not even made.”

20. Following this meeting, the Trustees (through Mr Ayres) wrote to the Company on 22 May 1998, with a number of requests which it is not necessary for me to repeat here, but concluding:

“We are prepared to discuss all the foregoing points but must reiterate that we must proceed in close alignment with our duties and responsibilities to ensuring the continued level of benefits and security for the members of the existing scheme.”

21. The Company (through Mr Ayres in his capacity as Director and Company Secretary) responded on 2 June 1998.  He stated that the Company did not intend to terminate the Scheme nor its continuing funding liability and that, at the very least, the Company fully intended to meet the requirements of the 1995 Act.  However, its decisions in the future would be impacted by future changes in the law and by competitive economic and financial considerations.  
22. The Trustees met on 9 June 1998 to consider the proposals that had been put forward by the Company. The minutes of that meeting record that, “although this is a Trustee meeting and CB [Curtis Bower] was participating as a Trustee, the other trustees nevertheless knew that CB, because of his role in the Company, had knowledge of the Company’s position”.  Arising out of this meeting the Trustees wrote again to the Company on 19 June 1998.  The Company responded by letter dated 2 July 1998 in which it stated that its position as set out in its letter of 2 June 1998 was final. At the meeting it was agreed that the Trustees and the Company would meet with SNL at an appropriate time in the future to discuss the Scheme’s funding position in conjunction with investments.

23. At their meeting on 2 July 1998, the Trustees noted that although they had received further promises and guarantees relating to the ongoing funding position of the Scheme there was no realistic hope of the Company acceding to any further requests. The Company had confirmed that the present proposals represented its final position.  The Trustees therefore resolved to agree to the amendments proposed by the Company.

24. On 15 July 1998 the Company announced to members of the Scheme its intention to replace the Scheme with a DC plan with effect from November 1998.  Existing members of the Scheme would not be required to contribute to the new scheme, but future new members would be required to contribute.  During July 1998, the Company held explanatory meetings with its employees detailing the changes that were to occur. 

25. At a meeting of the Trustees on 15 October 1998, it was noted that SNL advised the Trustees that the then current Statement of Investment Principles (SIP) was wide enough to cover any changes after the interim valuation had been received (which was anticipated as being December 1998) but that a new SIP would be required after the full valuation had been received.  The following was also noted:

“…the Company’s proposals on closure had been considered by them at their meetings on 6 April, 22 May, 9 June, 25 June and 2 July.  DP reminded the Trustees of the requests they had made to the Company in letters dated 9 March, 22 May and 19 June and of the Company’s replies dated 8 April, 2 June and 2 July.  It was further noted that the Trustees had agreed to the Company’s proposals in principle at their meeting on 2 July and had arranged to send member announcements based on their agreement to closure.  DP advised that the Trustees now that they must satisfy themselves that they have received all they have asked for from the Company and that the Deed of Closure satisfactorily reflects the agreed terms to the proposals.

The Trustees considered, at length, their duties in exercising the power of amendment.  DP reminded the Trustees that the Trustees must consider:

(1) the general duty to exercise the power of amendment for the furtherance of the Scheme;

(2) the requirement to comply with section 67 of the Pensions Act 1995; and

(3) the requirement to ensure that the amendment is in the overall best interests of the members.

The Trustees agreed that the exercise of the power is in furtherance of the Scheme because the Company has made clear that if they do not agree to the amendment the Scheme will be wound up.

DP advised the Trustees on the requirements of section 67.  It was noted that the Trustees would require a section 67 certificate from the Actuary and individual member consents in respect of back vesting issues.

The Trustees consider the requirement that the amendment must be in the overall best interests of the members…

It was resolved unanimously that the Trustees execute the Deed of Alteration and Closure.”

26. On 6 November 1998 the Scheme was closed and a Deed of Alteration and Closure documenting the closure was executed by the Trustees and the Company.  The Section 67 Certificate issued by SNL, as Scheme Actuary, was scheduled to the Deed.

27. SNL set out an interim investment strategy for the Trustees in a letter of 19 November 1998. SNL noted that the Trustees would be undertaking an asset liability study to establish a long term investment strategy but this could only take place once accurate minimum funding rate figures had been calculated following the Scheme’s closure.

28. The minutes of the Trustees’ meeting of 21 January 1999, indicate that a new SIP was distributed to those attending the meeting.

29. At their meeting on 18 May 1999, an MFR valuation was presented by the Scheme Actuary (Mr Nicholas Dodd of William M Mercer Ltd (Mercer), as SNL had become known) following which the Trustees resolved to accept a written proposal from the Company to make annual payments of £450,000 for the next eight and a half years, subject to annual review.  It appears that for the following two years, the Company made these payments.
30. At the Trustees’ meeting of 22 March 2000, Mercer was instructed to prepare an amended SIP. The Trustees also heard a presentation from the Scheme’s investment manager that had been requested as a result of the Trustees’ concern about poor investment performance in the final quarter of 1999. It was agreed that the investment manager would continue to act in that capacity but subject to monthly monitoring. At a Trustee meeting of 13 July 2000, Mercer was asked to make recommendations regarding any necessary change to the fund allocation.

Winding Up of the Scheme

31. At their meeting on 6 March 2001 the Trustees were advised that following the annual re-certification carried out by the Scheme Actuary, the MFR position had deteriorated since the valuation as at 6 November 1998.  Solvency levels had dropped below 90%.The following  options were said to be  available:

31.1. The Company could make a one off payment of approximately £2 million, while continuing the current levels of contribution; or

31.2. A new schedule of contributions could be agreed before the funding position was certified on 24 March 2001.  Contributions would have to increase to £1.35 million per annum, from 2001 to 2007.

32. At the 6 March meeting, the performance of the Scheme’s investment manager was reviewed for the year ended December 2000.

33. On 14 March 2001, the Trustees (through Mr John Camp) wrote to the Company seeking confirmation that it would increase the funding to the Scheme in one of the two ways outlined above, failing which the Scheme Actuary and Trustees would have no option but to instigate immediately a full valuation of the Scheme.  The Company, through Mr Ayres, responded on 21 March 2001 stating that the Company was not willing to pay £2 million immediately or to agree to pay £1.35 million by the end of 2001 and each year until 2007 and that it understood that the Scheme Actuary and Trustees would therefore instigate a full valuation of the Scheme.

34. By the time of the next Trustee meeting on 21 August 2001, the MFR valuation was already in progress. At this meeting, Mr Bower informed his fellow Trustees that the Company intended to present an alternative funding plan to respond to the MFR shortfall.  This would entail the payment of a sum of £4.2 million, spread over a seven year period, with no further payments to be made at the end of that period and expenses to be met from the payment.  The minutes record the discussion which followed:

“The Scheme Actuary pointed out that he had not carried out these calculations and had in fact carried out his own long term funding projection, at the request of Mr Ayres, which had given rise to an estimated contribution of approximately £0.9 million per annum for twelve years.

The Scheme Actuary advised that the estimated MFR solvency position was approximately 87%….. The estimated contribution rate required to bring the Scheme up to 100% on the MFR basis as at April 2007 would be in the region of £1.35 million per annum regardless of the results of the full MFR valuation which the Actuary will complete by 24 September 2001.

Mr Bower referred to the unwillingness of the Corporation’s management to fund at the MFR level due to adverse trading conditions, significant losses in the UK operation, perceived flaws in the MFR calculations and the potential for longer term overfunding of the Scheme if the MFR is followed to the full extent.

The other Trustees referred to the Company’s legal obligations under Pensions law and employment legislation, the disruption to the present workforce and failure to meet promises made for past service.  Mr Bower accepted the arguments and suggested that the Trustees write a response to the Company expressing their concern; adding that a formal proposal from the Company was in preparation.” 

35. On 28 August 2001 Mr Greg Ayres, in his capacity as secretary to the Trustees, wrote to the Chief Executive of Parsons Corporation, the President of Parsons Energy & Chemicals Group (Parsons Group), and the Senior Vice President, Eastern Hemisphere of the Parsons Group.  In this letter, Mr Ayres voiced the Trustees’ concerns about the Company’s proposal and concluded that:

“This outline proposal causes grave misgivings among the Trustees.  We will be taking legal and professional advice on this matter.  Based on our initial analysis, the Employer’s proposal will not satisfy the MFR, and will in all likelihood compromise the final salary guarantee to members.  Furthermore, we believe that the Company should carefully consider its legal and moral obligations resulting from the operation of a defined benefit scheme both as part of the employment contracts for the employees’ service prior to the closure of the Scheme in 1998, as well as under the law relating to the funding of pensions schemes.”

36. Counsel for Parsons Group responded on behalf of the Company, by letter dated 7 September 2001.  He stated:

“….The Company hereby reaffirms its position on this matter, and will not reconsider its intentions verbally presented at the Trustees’ meeting…

Current position

In March this year, the Company became aware that despite funding the Scheme at the recommended rate the Scheme had become seriously underfunded on the MFR basis… a deficit of £5,745,957, 18% of Scheme assets, existed.  The Scheme actuary has intimated that employer contributions should be increased to £1,300,000 over the next six years if the deficit is to be made good.

The change is as a result of a number of factors, in particular, less than expected investment returns (including the treatment of ACT on dividends), the requirement to include artificial allowances in respect of winding up expenses and interest under the MFR regulations, as well as the adverse conditions in the financial markets….

The Company’s trading results since the Scheme closure have been poor due to market conditions.  As a result, the parent company has funded significant losses during this period. Consequently a large negative net worth, amounting to £14.5m exists. The Energy and Chemicals business unit to which the Company reports continues to trade marginally after sustaining significant losses during the last two financial years. The Corporation has continued to look actively for a buyer for the unit. Certainly, without the support of Parsons Corporation, the Company cannot survive in its current form. If a buyer is found for this business unit it is unlikely to take on the liabilities of the Company, in particular the Scheme.  Even if the Company were in a position to pay the recommended contribution rate when added to the contributions currently being paid to the defined contribution scheme, the combined contribution rate would be 26% of payroll.  Given the current and forecast financial position of the Company this contribution rate is not sustainable.

Proposal

The Company, having consulted with Parsons Corporation, has reluctantly come to the conclusion that given the current funding position of the Scheme, the new contribution rate required, and the real possibility that, due to the financial markets, the MFR position would continue to worsen, it can no longer support the Scheme.

The Company recognises that winding up the Scheme at this point will mean a reduction in members’ benefits which could be secured and wishes to do everything commercially viable to alleviate this.  Accordingly the Company (again only with Parsons Corporation Support) makes the following proposal:

· The winding up of the Scheme is immediately triggered.

· Pensioner members would have their benefits calculated and annuitised.

· Deferred members would be given the opportunity of transferring their accrued benefits …. to the Parsons Pension Plan or an appropriate personal pension arrangement.

· The Plan or appropriate personal pension arrangement chosen by the member would then be enhanced quarterly for a period of seven years, as the Company pays in the additional £4.2 million.

· The above payments would be accelerated by the immediate payment of any outstanding payments where an individual retires during the six years but would be reduced for early receipt by a discount factor to be agreed.  All outstanding payments would also be accelerated with immediate payment in the event that the business of the Company is sold or otherwise divested.

The above would mean a capital cost to the Company of £4.2 million.  It should be noted that this is the total sum that is available and is some £400,000 more than had previously been budgeted for by the Company, in addition to the £900,000 contributed thus far since the Scheme’s closure….

The Scheme’s funding position continues to worsen and any delay in implementing the above will only result in members’ benefits being further reduced.  Accordingly the Company is looking for the Trustees’ agreement in principle to the above as a matter of urgency.  Detailed issues… can be attended to in due course.

…when considering the proposal the Trustees should note that the sum of £4.2 million referred to above is the maximum the Company can afford and is only available if the Scheme is wound up, removing the uncertainty/volatility associated with it.

If the proposal is not accepted the Company will no longer support the Scheme.”

All of the then Trustees has confirmed that they saw this letter. 

37. The Trustees responded by letter dated 17 September 2001.  In this letter, the Trustees pointed out various problems they faced with the proposal.  These problems included the consequence of the Company’s proposal that deferred members be treated differently depending on whether they accepted a transfer to the Parsons Pension plan or their own personal pension plan, or not, and that the Trustees did not have power to treat members within one category differently on a winding up of the Scheme.  The Trustees also alerted the Company to possible legal and moral obligations that it owed towards the members.  Finally, the Trustees asked the Company to consider several alternative avenues of funding the deficit.

38. The Trustees discussed the Company’s funding proposals at their meeting on 19 September 2001.  The Actuary suggested a way of reducing the Company’s contribution rate.  Mr Bower responded that the Company wanted to draw a line under its obligation towards the Scheme and that the Actuary’s proposal would not achieve it.  It would also result in the Company paying more than the £4.2 million that it was prepared to pay.  At this meeting, the Trustees instructed their legal advisers, Ashurst Morris Crisp, to prepare a paper setting out the options available to the Trustees. 

39. Counsel for the Company responded on 25 September 2001.  He said that the Company had a negative asset position and relied on Parsons Corporation which was only willing to lend a fixed amount of money – the amount which had been offered – and no more. Any recommendations costing more money would therefore be rejected.  However, the Company was willing, subject to Parsons Corporation’s agreement, to accelerate payment of the fixed amount to a near term lump sum (discounted for early payment).  

40. In early October 2001, Ashurst Morris Crisp delivered their advice to the Trustees detailing the options available to them. In respect of the Company’s proposal, Ashurst Morris Crisp advised:

“In order to be able to accept the proposal, as amended appropriately, the trustees must be convinced that they will not be able to obtain a greater sum from the Company through negotiation or enforcing any debt that arises under the Pensions Act, or that the chances of obtaining a greater sum do not outweigh the risk that the monies on offer under the proposal might be withdrawn….

In order to accept a proposal from the Company which offers less than the likely debt that would be due from the Company under the Pensions Act if the Scheme went into winding-up, the trustees must be satisfied that the Company does not have and cannot obtain the resources to make any greater payment than that on offer, either now or in the future.  In this context, the trustees will need an independent auditor’s report on the assets and viability of the Company (which they would expect the Company to pay for) and must be convinced (on the basis of the evidence) that the guarantees from its parent, which have enabled it to carry on trading in recent years, cannot be called upon to meet the Company’s obligations to the Scheme.”

41. In a letter dated 10 October 2001 Mr McNulty, the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Parsons Corporation,  responded to a letter from the Company setting out its concerns about the future of the Scheme.  He set out his reasons as to why the Scheme should be discontinued. He referred to the increased costs that faced the Parsons Corporation in funding the Scheme and his reluctance to continue to fund it on an open-ended and unpredictable basis into the future.  

42. The minutes of the Trustees’ meeting dated 24 October 2001, recorded the following:

“It was agreed that the matter had now reached a critical juncture, and that the notification referred to above [that is, the announcement to members of 25 September] had triggered significant and widespread concern among members, and that current employee members in particular had reacted negatively to the suspension notification.

After prolonged discussion, and reference to the correspondence, and guidance from the advisers, the following summation was arrived at:
The Trustees should consider whether or not to initiate the winding up of the Scheme, and would need to consider the following regarding the Scheme funding: accept the Company’s offer, reject the Company’s offer, pursue the MFR debt in full, or forego the additional funding needed to meet the full cash equivalency liability for deferred members, and indexation for pensioners in payment.

It was therefore agreed that the Trustees should weigh up the Company’s funding offer and move expeditiously to an early winding up of the Scheme.  The following was reviewed and agreed, with the input and agreement of William M. Mercer and Ashursts…”

43. On 30 October 2001 Greg Ayres in his capacity as Director signed the audited accounts for the Company for the year ended 31 December 2000: they showed that the Company had made a loss of £12,425,000.  The previous year the loss had been £3,371,000.  

44. On 2 November 2001 the Company informed the Trustees that if its offer (as set out in its letters of 19 and 25 September 2001) was not accepted in writing by 31 December 2001, the Company would lose the support of Parsons Corporation and the offer would be withdrawn and Parsons Corporation would stop supporting the Scheme.  If the offer was accepted, the money would be paid in January 2002. In addition to the £4.2 million originally offered, a further £192,647 would be made available as a final contribution towards Scheme costs (actuarial and legal).

45. At a meeting of the Trustees on 5 November 2001, Mercer was asked to provide guidance on switching the Scheme’s funds to alternative investments. At a further meeting on 21 November Mr Ayres was nominated to contact Mercer’s investment department and request recommendations on changes in investment strategy to reflect the Scheme being in wind-up.

46. At a meeting on 8 November 2001 the Trustees agreed that they needed further legal advice on their appropriate courses of action if they were either to accept or reject the Company’s offer, and the consequences of these alternatives.

47. The minutes of the Trustees’ meeting on 21 November 2001 record:

“7.
Wind-Up   

It was agreed to wind-up the Scheme effective 22 November 2001, the date the Trustees would send written confirmation to the Company.  It was noted the Trustees had 30 days from 22 November 2001 in which to notify members.  It was agreed that the Trustees would communicate with members during the winding-up process with a series of questions and answers bulletins.”

48. At their next meeting, on 3 December 2001, the Trustees discussed the draft compromise agreement containing the funding offer, and accepted it in principle on condition that various amendments were agreed.  In particular the Trustees required that the contribution was to be held under the Scheme’s Trust and not a separate Trust, and that once the contribution was paid, the Company could not have a refund in the event that at the date of winding up the MFR position was greater than 100%.  Nor should the Company be able to direct the Trustees on how the assets should be used for the benefit of members.   

49. At the same meeting, the Trustees considered a paper prepared by Mercer setting out recommendations for a change in investment strategy and agreed on a number of such changes.

50. Members of the Scheme were informed of the winding up by an announcement from the Trustees dated 7 December 2001. The Trustees signed the compromise agreement (the Compromise Agreement) accepting the Company’s offer on 18 December 2001.  By Clause 2.3 of the Compromise Agreement, the Trustees agreed that the payment made was in full and final settlement of all claims they or the Scheme had or might have against the Company or any subsidiary, associated or holding company (a Group Company) of the Company or any employee of any Group Company relating to the obligation of the Company or any Group Company to pay contributions towards the funding or costs or expenses of the Scheme.  Under Clause 1.2 of the Compromise Agreement, the Company and Parsons Corporation agreed to indemnify each of the Trustees against any claims made in relation to the Scheme and in respect of any costs incurred therefrom. 

51. On 28 December 2001 Parsons Corporation sold its shares in its energy and chemicals global business unit to Parsons Corporation Employee Stock Ownership Plan (ESOP).  The sale agreement provided that the Company’s trading assets and liabilities would be transferred to a new, UK registered, company, Parsons E & C Europe Limited (Parsons Europe) but that the Company would retain responsibility for the Scheme, a debt to Parsons Corporation amounting to £19.1m and some existing contracts.  The consideration for the sale was a sum equal to the book value of the assets as shown in the books of the Company at the transfer date, less the amount of the liabilities as shown in the books of the Company at the transfer date.  Thus Parsons Europe took over the business free from the Company’s debt of £19.1 million.   Parsons Europe is a subsidiary of Parsons Energy & Chemicals Group Inc., itself owned by ESOP, which is the holding company for Parsons Corporation. 

52. On 15 March 2002 the transfer described above took effect, and the Company ceased trading.  

53. Miss Pearson has pursued the Internal Dispute Resolution Procedure (IDRP) in respect of her complaints about the Scheme.  Her complaints were not upheld at either the stage one IDRP decision made on 27 March 2002 or in the stage two IDRP decision made on 27 June 2002.

54. By a letter dated 19 March 2004 from the Trustees, Miss Pearson was informed that the Scheme Actuary had assessed the assets and liabilities of the Scheme on the MFR basis.  The Trustees explained that the assets of the Scheme were insufficient to provide Miss Pearson’s Scheme benefits in full and that she had a number of options as to the manner in which she would like her benefits secured.  The letter also contained a disclaimer (the Disclaimer) which Miss Pearson was asked to sign and which, among other things, stated that Miss Pearson’s acceptance of one of the options contained in the letter would be in full and final satisfaction of any and all claims which she had in respect of the Scheme.

55. An announcement to Scheme members by the Trustees was made on 23 April 2004 (the Member Announcement), which stated that if more funds were to become available to the Scheme as a result of the present complaint, Scheme members’ transfer values would be increased regardless of which option they had taken under the letter of 19 March 2004.
SUMMARY OF SUBMISSIONS

Submissions from Miss Pearson and other members
Disclosure of documents

56. Further documentation should be made available in order to ascertain that the Company’s financial position was not as portrayed and to clarify the role of Mr Ayres and Mr Bower.
57. The Company was not in the dire financial position that its accounts indicated. The following evidence supports that view:

57.1. The Company’s audited accounts for the years from 1992 to 2000 show that the Company made profits in three of those years and losses in the other six; 

57.2. There is no statement in the accounts that the Company’s parent is standing behind it in years where losses occur;

57.3. The accounts show that the Company was trading with the Parsons Corporation. Payments of £16m to the Parsons Corporation shown in the accounts for 1996 to 1999 to be in respect of the “purchase of engineering and operational support” were a mechanism by which trading profits of the Company flowed to its parent, thus creating an impression that the Company was insolvent;

57.4. Parsons E&C Europe Limited (to which the larger component of the business was transferred only ten days after the signing of the Compromise Agreement) was sold in October 2004 for a “substantial cash payment”, thought to be around $245m. This indicates that the business of the Company was undervalued on its transfer to the ESOP-owned Parsons E&C Europe limited in 2001. The Company was undervalued by around £34m since at the time of the transfer, its price/earnings ratio was around 0.75, instead of the expected 5 to 8 that would apply on a sale.  Parsons E&C Europe paid off the loan used for the purchase within nine months and paid out dividends in its second and third years of trading; and

57.5. The Company was involved in several multi-national lucrative projects during the period when the Compromise Agreement and wind-up of the Scheme were being considered.

58. Mr Ayres and Mr Bower pushed the Trustees to enter into the Compromise Agreement, knowing that the transfer of the business was contemplated, as a measure to “walk away” from the Scheme. The fact that the transfer was effected ten days after the Trustees signed the Compromise agreement supports this contention.

59. The following documentation has been requested:
59.1. The Sales Memorandum and related documentation issued to prospective third party purchasers for the potential sale of the energy and chemicals business unit between 1999 and 2001. This will demonstrate that the Company was not in the dire financial circumstances claimed and was in fact able to meet its obligations to the Scheme.

59.2. The Sales Memorandum and related documentation issued to Worley prior to its acquisition in 2004 of the stock of Parsons Energy & Chemicals Inc. This documentation will enable the value attributed to the Company at that time and the part that value played in the overall sale price of $245m to be determined.
59.3. The Sale and Purchase Agreement, including the warranty and pension provisions, relating to the above transaction. The Trustees were in a position to insist on the Scheme being fully funded by the Company, or its successors. It is anticipated that these documents will show where the liability rests to make good the deficit in the Scheme. 
60. Miss Pearson is at a loss to understand why so many documents are not available as the main players in the Parsons Corporation are also the main players in the ESOP Trust. It is difficult to believe that Parsons Corporation did not generate or receive any documentation regarding the sale of the business which included the Company. It engaged a Bank as its financial advisor when providing an Offer Memorandum in 1999.  
Alleged failure by the Trustees to obtain the necessary levels of contribution from the Company

61. On the closure of the Scheme in 1998, no alteration was made to the employer contribution rule and therefore, the obligation on the Company to pay contributions remained.  In order to confirm that the power of amendment under the Scheme Rules (Rule 57) was itself valid, it is necessary to review the previous Scheme documents

62. The Trustees failed to obtain the necessary level of employer contributions in 1998. As soon as the Trustees learned in early 1998 that the Company was proposing to close the Scheme, they should have reassessed the level of Company contributions and requested that the Company pay contributions to the Scheme so that the benefits of all members were secure. Furthermore, when the Company refused to comply with such a demand, the Trustees should not have acquiesced. Miss Pearson has drawn my attention to a decision of the High Court of New Zealand in McClelland v Unisys New Zealand Ltd [2002] OPLR 39 and to my predecessor’s determination in respect of the National Bus Scheme (ref: A10113) where he found that even if a scheme rule requires the agreement of the employer in setting a contribution rate, where the rate is determined by the cost of providing benefits, the employer cannot seek to agree a rate that would not provide those benefits. He also found that if a scheme is terminated, the costs of benefits should be taken as the full cost of buying them out in full.

Roles of Greg Ayres and Curtis Bowers

63. Two of the Trustees, Mr Greg Ayres and Mr Curtis Bower, also hold management positions within the Company. Mr Bower is Chief Finance Officer of Parsons Corporation and Mr Ayres is Finance Director of both the Company and Parsons Europe.  It is suspected that both Mr Ayres and Mr Bower committed breaches of trust by putting the interests of the Company, Parsons Corporation and Parsons Europe, and possibly their own personal financial interests, ahead of those of the Scheme beneficiaries. 
64. It is suspected that Mr Ayres and Mr Bower deliberately misled their co-trustees about the finances of the Company and Parsons Corporation and deliberately failed to drive a harder bargain with the Company/Parsons Corporation who they knew could have afforded to pay more money into the Scheme.  
65. Mr Ayres and Mr Bower were the very people who were making decisions on behalf of the Company in respect of the Scheme, and yet were also supposedly to be negotiating with the Company at the same time. 
66. At the very least, since no declarations of interest were made by either Mr Ayres or Mr Bower, then (in accordance with the case of Hillsdown Holdings plc v The Pensions Ombudsman [1996] PLR 427) the burden of proof that they have acted properly lies upon them. Under the Scheme Rules there is no express provision relating to trustees negotiating with the employer. Rule 49 deals with Personal Interest of Trustees. Miss Pearson submits that Mr Ayres and Mr Bower failed to make declarations of interest as required under sub-rules 49.2 and 49.3.

67. Miss Pearson draws attention to various meetings of the Trustees:

67.1. To the meeting of 22 May 1998, the purpose of which was to “consider an appropriate response to Parsons Group International Limited (PGIL) further to their letter of 8 April 1998”: 

“2 
CB [Curtis Bower] stated that as a senior officer of the Company, he is aware that if the Trustees do not agree the amendment and PGIL is forced to wind up the Scheme then PGIL would not fund the new money purchase Scheme on a non-contributory basis…

3 
…DP [Trustees’ legal adviser] asked the Trustees whether they wished the deed of amendment to reflect a minimum time limit for GGIL to continue contributing to the final salary scheme…CB commented that he personally was against imposing a time guarantee as he felt that PGIL could interpret that as a trigger to terminate liability immediately the guarantee period was over. The remaining Trustees concurred with CB’s view although decided to defer a final resolution for the time being”: 

67.2. To Mr Bower’s claim at the Trustees’ meeting of 22 May 1998 (see paragraph 19.3) that guaranteeing annuity rates would introduce further uncertainty (which was clearly invalid as annuity rates for 1993 were a known quantity in 1998) demonstrated his unwillingness to even ask Parsons Corporation to make any form of guarantee:
67.3. To the meeting of 9 June 1998. Extracts from the minutes include:

“5.1 DP advised that…the Trustees must consider whether the letter dated 5 June from the Company is the final Company position or should the Trustees continue to try and obtain further guarantees from the Company…

5.2 
Is this the final Company position? DP stated that although this is a Trustee meeting and CB was participating as a Trustee, the other Trustees nevertheless knew that CB, because of his role in the Company, had knowledge of the Company’s position. DP therefore asked CB whether, to his knowledge, this was the final Company position…CB replied that he was aware of the Company position and that it is a final position unless the Trustees raise any new issues…

5.4  …CB commented that in the DC Plan the members would have the benefit of superior investment performance although they also had the risk of the underperformance. In the Scheme the members do not have the risk of bad investment performance…CB referred to DC plans in the USA where members appreciate the advantage of being able to manage their own investments and have control of their own pension plan…

CB asked whether the Trustees were allowed to consider another factor. DP said that they were…CB proceeded to explain that he was aware that the Company view is that since 1992, the Company’s contribution has risen from 10.1% (or less) to 15.1% for the year 1998. Accordingly the labour base is now very expensive. The Company’s objective is to stabilise costs in order to allow the Company to remain competitive in the work place. Taken to extremes, if the pension expenses continue to grow, the livelihood of individual members may be jeopardised ie job security could be an issue…

5.5  …CB commented that he knew the Company’s view is that it is not feasible to prioritise benefits now…

…CB asked whether if the Scheme continues as a frozen scheme, are trustees still required?…CB asked whether it would be helpful to the Trustees to ask the Company to reaffirm on an annual basis that the Company would continue to fund ie for the Company to certify its continued commitment on funding and the continued liquidity of the Company. ND advised that such a commitment would not be binding on the Company and would, therefore, be of only limited value…The Trustees considered this a helpful proposal.

6 
…DP advised that after the full MFR valuation the Trustees would have to agree a proposal to bring the funding to 100%…

CB disagreed that the pace of funding was significant…CB suggested that the Trustees should merely be concerned whether the date of funding had negatively impacted on the investment position ie are the Trustees investing at the wrong time of the year? CB considered that the Trustees and the Company should have the same objectives ie to maximise the return on investments and to minimise expenses. Nevertheless, CB advised the Trustees that he knew from his Company position that the Company has specific requirements relating to its ability to make contributions at certain dates…”

67.4. To minutes of  the meeting of 21 August 2001:

“4.  
MFR Valuation

…

Mr Bower then informed the meeting of the intention of the Principal Employer to present an alternative funding plan with respect to the MFR liability shortfall. In outline, the Company has carried out its own calculations and believed that there was a shortfall that would entail the contribution of £4.2 million which would be spread over a seven year period, with no further payments to be made at the end of this period…

The Scheme actuary pointed out that he had not carried out these calculations and had in fact carried out his own long term funding projections, at the request of Mr Ayres, which had given rise to an estimated contribution of approximately £0.9 million per annum for twelve years.

…

Mr Bower referred to the unwillingness of the Corporation’s management to fund at the MFR level due to adverse trading conditions, significant losses in the UK operation, perceived flaws in the MFR calculations and the potential for longer term overfunding of the Scheme if the MFR is followed to the full extent.

The other Trustees referred to the Company’s legal obligations under Pensions Law and Employment legislation, the disruption to the present workforce and failure to meet promises made for past service. Mr Bower accepted the arguments and suggested that the Trustees write a response to the Company expressing their concern: adding that a formal proposal from the Company was in preparation.”

68. It is clear from the way in which information was provided to member trustees during Trustee meetings that Mr Ayres and Mr Bower were taking the Company’s position. When expressing the Company’s position, Mr Bower and Mr Ayres may not have been providing accurate information. Miss Pearson refers to a conversation she had with a colleague in which she was told that pressure was exerted on the lay trustees because they were told that the Company would not fund the new defined contribution scheme on its own if the Trustees did not accept the offered £3.6m. Miss Pearson wonders if the member trustees fully understood the potential impact of the Compromise Agreement and if they had, whether they would have acted differently. Miss Pearson suggests that I should invite the member trustees to state their perception of the situation at an oral hearing.

69. It is astounding that Mr Bower did not advise Messrs Ayres, Huggins and Camp of the imminent sale of the company. If he did not do so then surely he was in major breach of trust in his role as Trustee. 

70. A statement that no input had been obtained from Mr Huggins because he could not be contacted in Saudi Arabia is ludicrous.

Duty of trust and confidence

71. The Company has acted in breach of the implied duty of trust and confidence which it owes to its employees (in accordance with Imperial Group Pension Trust Ltd v Imperial Tobacco Co Ltd [1991] 1 WLR 589).  During the period 1989 to 1992, the Company took a “contributions holiday” from making payments to the Scheme but nonetheless, when charging clients, it continued to include an element relating to the cost of pension benefits. In negotiations with the Trustees, the Company has made a number of threats in respect of withdrawing funding from the Scheme and also possible loss of employment.  These actions have taken place in spite of background promises and guarantees of members’ pension benefits by the Company.  The Company also failed to correct the misunderstandings of Parsons Corporation which were clearly shown in the letter of its Chief Executive, James McNulty, dated 10 October 2001. This conduct demonstrates that the Company has acted in a manner which is calculated to undermine seriously its relationship of trust and confidence with its employees.
72. Information produced by or for the Company included a statement that  showed group revenue for 2000 as $789 million of which the Company provided $120 million. No mention was made of any losses being incurred by the Company. In the period prior to the Compromise Agreement, the Company was being presented to potential purchasers as containing inherent value. In the years prior to 2002, cash was being expatriated from the UK to bolster the finances of Parsons Corporation in the US. Significant losses were incurred by Parson Corporation on a venture in Columbia. Following the sale to ESOP of the business unit of which the Company was part, the Company was then sold on to Worley and has thereafter been highly profitable. Thus the Parsons Engineering and Chemical Group was a valuable asset in 2004 (when sold to Worley) and the Company was an important constituent of that Group, Both the Group and the Company were valuable in 2002 when, he says,  the Compromise Agreement was signed.
73. Had the Trustees known that a contract for the sale of the Company’s business would be entered into within 10 days of the trustees signing the compromise agreement, the Trustees would have known they were in a strong bargaining position and could have demanded a higher sum in exchange for agreeing to compromise the debt due to the Scheme.

74. On behalf of the Respondents it has been said that Parsons Corporation provided $30 million financial support to the Company but it is not clear to what period this statement relates. A forensic account would have established the true direction in which funds had historically flowed and that information should have been obtained by the Trustees.
75. Parsons Corporation would not have underwritten the Company’s trading in 2000 and 2001 if it did not believe in its underlying profitability and potential. 

76. The period between March 2002 (when the sale to Parsons E and C Europe took place) and October 2004 (when the sale to Worley took place) might have been sufficiently long for the business to “turn around” had it been unprofitable. But the business did not turn around during this period: it had always been profitable. 

77. The basis on which the Scheme was wound up in 2001 is unclear.  The Company and the Trustees should set out the method by which the termination of the Scheme took place.  When the Company first suggested it was terminating contributions to the Scheme in August 2001 (under Rule 11.1 and 56.4) the Trustees could legally have required the Company to make a larger payment to the Scheme so that benefits could be properly protected.  Despite the clear legal advice given by Ashurst Morris Crisp in October 2001, the Trustees did not obtain a report from an independent auditor in respect of the Company’s financial position.  The Trustees should have demanded the full amount of the Scheme deficit relevant in the context of an imminent winding up (i.e. based on the costs of buying immediate and deferred annuities for all members).  Alternatively, the Trustees should never have agreed to the compromise because the situation in Bradstock Group Pension Scheme Trustees Ltd v Bradstock Group plc and others [2002] 69 PBLR is different from the situation that arose in relation to the Scheme.

78. The assertion by the Trustees and the Company that “the majority of the Company’s decisions in respect of the Scheme were taken by the Company’s management committee” is at odds with the way in which senior managers and former directors recall decisions being made. One former director of the Company at the time the Scheme was closed has said that in his view, Mr Ayres made the decision to close the Scheme, in accordance with the wishes of Mr Bower and the Parsons Corporation, without consultation with the management or directors of the Company. He says the matter was not discussed at board meetings and most of the senior management had little or no knowledge of what was occurring at the time.

The Compromise Agreement

79. The Trustees did not take appropriate action before entering into the Compromise Agreement. Bradstock Group Pension Scheme Trustees Ltd v Bradstock Group plc and others [2002] 69 PBLR was decided after the Compromise Agreement had been made but nonetheless some principles emerged from the case by which Trustees are now guided when entering into a compromise. Guidance issued by Opra (whose functions are now those of the Pensions Regulator) in May 2004 (“Update 7, compromising an employer’s debt – actions that Opra expects trustees to take”) also sets out certain guidelines for Trustees. The advice from the Trustees’ legal adviser – in their letter of October 2001 - is consistent with these later guidelines but the Trustees failed to follow that advice. In particular, the Trustees failed to obtain an independent auditor’s report of the financial state of the Company or carry out investigations to ascertain if guarantees from Parsons Corporation could be called upon to meet the Company’s obligations under the Scheme. 

80. Commissioning an independent report was essential given that the actual financial position of the Company was different to that shown on the face of it in its accounts. In addition, it would have highlighted any possibility of seeking guarantees from Parsons Corporation. The Trustees were given advice to commission such a report in October 2001 and had to make a decision by 31 December 2001. There was therefore enough time for the Trustees to act. Miss Pearson says that there is little evidence to show that the Trustees attempted to ascertain the time and cost involved in obtaining an independent report. The Trustees claim to have considered this issue in their meeting of 24 October 2001 but the minutes do not support such a claim. An extract from the Minutes of that meeting follows:

“after prolonged discussion, and reference to correspondence, and guidance from the advisers…the Trustees should weigh up the Company’s funding offer and move expeditiously to an early winding-up of the Scheme.”

Breach of contract of employment

81. The failure to provide Miss Pearson with her full scale benefits is a breach of her contract of employment with the Company, as supplemented by statements in staff handbooks, and Scheme booklets.  The statements provided in the staff handbooks and Scheme booklets constituted an express term of her employment contract that the accrued Scheme benefits would be provided in full (and that the Company would cover the full cost of providing them). Miss Pearson relies upon the following two cases in support of this aspect of her complaint: Seifert v The Pensions Ombudsman [1997] 4 All ER 947 and Mihlenstedt v Barclays Bank International Limited [1989] PLR 91.

Separate guarantee 
82. Alternatively, the Company offered Miss Pearson and others a separate guarantee to provide their deferred benefits. When implementing the new defined contribution scheme, the Company issued an Announcement to members, dated 15 July 1998, which included an announcement from the Trustees. In its Announcement, the Company said:

 “BENEFITS EARNED UP TO 6 NOVEMBER 1998
…

These benefits are secure and the Company will continue to meet its financial obligations under the Existing Scheme in line with actuarial advice and the requirements of UK legislation”

83. In 1998, presentations were given by the Company to employees, including Miss Pearson, in which the differences between the old and new schemes were explained. Slides used in the presentations referred to guaranteed benefits remaining in the Scheme and contained no qualifications or “health warnings” as to the security of those benefits or the effect of any future winding-up of the Scheme.

84. A question and answer paper was issued to members which included the following:

“67. If we transfer out [of the Scheme], will we lose?

Yes. The amount that has accumulated during your service in the existing Scheme will be transferred to wither the new plan or an alternative plan, however, the guarantee is no longer applicable.”

Miss Pearson says that on the basis of being advised that they could lose out if they transferred out of the scheme she and colleagues chose not to do so. She adds that at no time were they ever advised that there could be a possibility of the Scheme being wound up and such a scenario could result in them losing part or all of their retirement benefits.

85. Around the same time Miss Pearson had a conversation with Mr Ayres in which he advised her that her best option would be to retain her accrued benefits in the Scheme, saying that it was “safer” to leave her benefits there. She maintains that the same message was given by the Company’s HR Manager and assurances about the security of deferred benefits in the Scheme were repeated several times in writing and in public meetings. Although Mr Ayres has recently said that Miss Pearson’s comments are entirely without foundation, on 30 April 2003, solicitors for the Respondents said that “the conversation Greg Ayres had with (Miss Pearson) has to be put in the context of the facts known at the time (indication of funding level from the Company and the alternative of reduced transfer value). It was also based on the generic advice being given by SNL. At the time and given the financial position the comment was sound, however circumstances move on.” Mr Ayres has moved his position from admitting that a conversation took place in which he advised Miss Pearson against transferring out her benefits, to now denying that such matters were ever discussed. His recollections in April 2003 could be expected to be more reliable than those in January 2007.  
86. The fact that a number of members recall having such conversations and such assurances arguably indicates that, on the balance of probabilities, these conversations did occur.
87. In October 1999 Mr Ayres wrote to all employees saying many employees had asked about the status of their pensions in the context of the then proposed sale of the Group of which the Company was part. His letter said that both pensions schemes (the Defined Benefit Scheme and the Parsons Pension Plan which replaced it) were funded under segregated trusts and protected by law. 

88. Miss Pearson and some other members accepted what they regarded as guarantees and assurances by deciding to leave their accrued benefits in the Scheme rather than transferring to the new DC pension plan.
89. Such representations that Scheme benefits were “guaranteed” amount to a contractual warranty, or a separate contract between the employee concerned and the Company. 

90. Miss Pearson wrote to two Employee-nominated Trustees of the Scheme on 14August 2001 asking for an “update on the current status of the Scheme”, explaining that she was concerned having had her fingers burnt with Equitable Life and noting that the new Plan was not performing well. She received no response but an announcement was issued on 25 September that the actuary had been unable to provide a certificate that the funding was adequate and that the Trustees were trying to secure new funding arrangements.  

Trustees’ investment decisions
91. The Trustees’ investment powers in the period since 1998 should be examined. The Trustees should have received regular advice on investment policy and reviewed the existing policy.

Legal costs

92. Given the Scheme’s funding position and the terms of the Compromise Agreement (notably, clause 1.2), the costs incurred by the Trustees in responding to Miss Pearson’s present complaint should not be taken from the Scheme, but recovered from the Company or Parsons Corporation.

93. Clause 1.2 of the Compromise agreement provides that:

“Parsons Corporation and the Principal Employer jointly and severally agree to indemnify each of the Trustees at all times (including, without limitation, after the winding-up of the Scheme has been completed) against any actions, proceedings, claims and demands, and all costs, damages and expenses arising therefrom incurred by or claimed from the Trustees or any of them in relation to the Scheme, except in the case of fraud or personal bad faith or wilful breach of trust on the part of that Trustee.” 

94. Miss Pearson had been told by Mr Ayres that the cost of defending any complaint by her would be met from Scheme assets, thus worsening the position of the Scheme members. 

95. The failure of the Trustees to appreciate that their costs should not be taken from the Scheme and the incorrect representations to Miss Pearson in this respect constitute maladministration. Further, Miss Pearson says she “incurred considerable legal costs trying to clarify what should have been a simple matter…and she should be compensated accordingly…”; She has said that she was caused considerable distress by the Trustees’ actions in repeatedly informing her and other members that their action in making a complaint would only serve to deplete the Scheme’s funds and therefore their benefits.

Disclaimer

96. The Disclaimer sent by the Trustees was an attempt to persuade members into giving up their present complaints in respect of the Scheme. This attempt amounts to a serious act of maladministration by both the Company and the Trustees and breach of trust by the Trustees. Miss Pearson has said that the Trustees’ actions in this respect caused her stress and anxiety for over a month when she believed that she would have no recourse to an adjudicating body.

Generally

97. Miss Pearson asks me to hold an oral hearing in order to hear the arguments put forward by all the parties.

98. Miss Pearson is also anxious to point out that the issues she is raising are not just those relating to the legal position of the Scheme. She explains that her pension expectation has been reduced by approximately 55% and this is a direct result of the Company’s “financial engineering” that she says is at the heart of the matter of the pension scheme of her solvent employer being wound up. She quotes a comment made to her by a senior employee of the Company when the Company’s 2003 annual accounts were lodged; “the plum is there for you to pick, if you can find it”. Miss Pearson believes that this was a direct reference to monies “hidden” through financial engineering to give the impression that the Company was in a poor financial position. She and others have referred me to times when money had been freely spent by the Company and to projects which were highly profitable despite not appearing profitable as the result of creative financial accounting.
99. Miss Pearson believes that the Parsons Corporation was involved in the running of the Scheme and points to a recent exchange of correspondence between a former director of the Company [Mr Sarssam] and representatives of the current employer, Worley Parsons Europe Limited. In that exchange, Worley Parsons said it would be inappropriate for it to enter into any discussion about the Scheme since it recognises that “this was a Parsons Corporation pension plan and any residual responsibility resides with them.”

100. Information about the terms of the sale of the Company could be obtained from the Purchaser.

101. US employees have suffered no loss in their retirement benefits. Why therefore have UK employees been allowed to “lose” their retirement benefits?  

102. It has been stated that none of the Trustees elected to make a transfer of benefits from the old scheme. Mr Bower was a US employee and was not eligible to participate. Mr Ayres had only four years’ membership of the Scheme. All senior and middle management of the Company (and Corporation) were on very generous bonus schemes related to achieving targets. Undoubtedly one target would have been the successful closure and wind-up of the Pension Scheme. 
103. When the proposed wind-up of the Scheme was announced in December 2001 members were initially advised by Mr Messrs Ayres and Bettis they would lose only approximately 20% of their pension benefits whereas the final loss figures range from 55 to 75 %. 

Submissions by the Trustees and the Company
Disclosure of documents
104. In relation to Miss Pearson’s contention that certain documentation should be made available to her to clarify a number of issues, the Respondents say that they have made available documentation as required by me. They believe that Miss Pearson’s further requests for disclosure are based on “a flawed analysis of both the financial affairs of the Company and its audited accounts”. 

105. In the years between 1992 and 2000, the Company’s Profit & Loss accounts show profits/losses as shown below. These figures confirm that the Company was in serious financial difficulty by 2000:

	Year
	Profit/Loss

£’000

	1992
	(786)

	1993
	1,767

	1994
	1,330

	1995
	(330)

	1996
	97

	1997
	(3,066)

	1998
	(117)

	1999
	(3,371)

	2000
	(12,425)

	
	


106. Each year between 1992 and 2000, Note 1 to the accounts stated “Financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis notwithstanding the net deficiency of assets…Parsons Corporation has agreed to provide continuing financial support for the foreseeable future.” This contradicts Miss Pearson’s assertion that there was no statement in the accounts to indicate that the Company’s parent was standing behind it.  The support was provided in the hope that the Company might realise its inherent profitability and/or potential value but as a matter of fact it failed to do so. 
107. It was, and is, common practice for companies in the engineering industry to outsource or subcontract work to related companies. The £16m referred to by Miss Pearson as being paid by the Company in the years 1996 to 1999 was the cost of labour and expenses of other Parsons’ employees working on contracts procured by the Company. In the same period, the Company provided similar services to other companies in the group, billing £3.8m. Miss Pearson has misunderstood the position in relation to these costs in attempting to argue that they represent a repatriation of profits. These related party transactions were disclosed to, and reviewed by, the auditors and disclosed in the Company’s audited accounts.

108. The Respondents note that Miss Pearson suggests that the Company was undervalued on its transfer to ESOP by around £34m based on a price/earnings ratio valuation method. The audited accounts show no earnings at the relevant time. Average audited “earnings” for 1997 to 2001 show a loss of £4.6m. The sale of PE&C to ESOP was made at a price within a range provided by an independent valuation consultant. 
109. Miss Pearson is correct in saying that, in 2001 when the Compromise Agreement was being contemplated, the Company had secured three “sizeable” contracts. The contracts were in volatile areas of the world, were cancellable by the client and did not provide any guarantee of future work. For these, and other, reasons the projects were not considered to form the basis of a secure business plan.
110. To sum up their position in relation to this point, the Respondents say:

“The main thrust of the arguments deployed by [the Complainant] are based on a theme which has been devised by the Complainant with the benefit of hindsight. It is clear that she believes that the Company and Parsons designed a scheme for the benefit of the US employees to the disadvantage of the UK employees. This theory relies upon the fallacy that the sale of PE&C Europe to Worley in November 2004 is the equivalent of saying that the Company was sold to Worley for $245 million. The Complainant then argues that this would suggest that the Company was not in serious financial difficulty and consequently the Trustees should not have entered into the Compromise Agreement because it did not truly reflect what the Company could genuinely afford. The Complainant argues that the Compromise Agreement was pushed for by the Company and Parsons, through Mr Ayres and Mr Bower because Parsons had taken the decision to walk away from the Scheme and to transfer the assets and employees to [Parsons Europe], which they themselves must have been instrumental in.

The fact of the matter is that had the Company been worth $245 million at the relevant time the Company would have been able to continue to make the requisite contributions to the Pension scheme and/or been sold to a third party because its assets would have been considerably in excess of its liabilities. Contrary to the arguments deployed by the Complainant, all of the financial information and evidence in the form of audited accounts points to the fact that far from being in rude financial health, the Company was in dire straits.

Part of the problem that the Complainant has to face is that the business enterprise that was sold to Worley in November 2004 was not the equivalent UK operation as sold to the ESOP in 2001. The sale in 2004 was the sale of the global operation, one part of which was the UK operation.

The fact of the matter is, as demonstrated by the audited accounts, the Company was and had been incurring significant losses over a lengthy period of time…

The Company could not survive without the support of Parsons. Parsons was not prepared to continue providing support indefinitely without there being any real prospect of there being a turnaround and the Company could not be sold unless it reached a compromise as to the deficit in the scheme with the Trustees.”

111. Miss Pearson and others rely upon the sale of an entirely different corporate entity than the Company some years after the compromise agreement to support an underlying theme that the financial position of the Company was not as bad as it was thought in 2001. The truth of the matter, as demonstrated by the audited accounts, was that the Company was and had been incurring significant losses over a lengthy period of time with no realistic prospect of the situation being turned round.   

112. In response to Miss Pearson’s request for additional disclosure: 
112.1. The Offering Memorandum issued in 1999 for the sale of Parsons Energy & Chemicals Group has been provided to the Ombudsman. Due to the way in which information was made available to potential purchasers, no further documentation was issued;

112.2. The Sales Memorandum and related documentation issued to Worley prior to its acquisition in 2004 of the stock of Parsons Energy & Chemicals Inc. The Company was not a party to this transaction and did not have sight of any documentation relating to it.
112.3. The Sale and Purchase Agreement, including the warranty and pension provisions, relating to the above transaction. This sale was negotiated by the independent trustee of ESOP and the management of Parsons Energy & Chemicals Inc. The Company had no involvement and no documentation is available.
Alleged failure by the Trustees to obtain the necessary levels of contribution from the Company
113. Neither Rule 11.1 nor Rule 56.4 of the Scheme Rules empowers the Trustees to compel the Company to pay a particular contribution rate; if the Company fails to agree a funding rate the only sanction available to the Trustees is to wind up the Scheme.  The Trustees concluded at the time of closing the Scheme that winding it up was not in all the members’ interests.  The Trustees did not request the Company to fully fund the Scheme as part of the negotiations prior to the Scheme commencing winding up as the funding was not available.  The fact that a request was made for the buy out costs in 1998 does not establish a precedent for asking for this again on winding up of the Scheme, particularly when it was clear that funding was not even available to meet the significantly lower Section 75 debt calculated on the MFR basis.
Roles of Greg Ayres and Curtis Bower
114. In respect of the allegations against Mr Ayres and Mr Bower, all decisions made by the Trustees were unanimous and three of the Trustees, being also members of the Scheme, were fully aware of the effect of their decisions on the members.  It is not the existence of more than one role that Messrs Ayres and Bower were performing that is relevant, but whether the decisions taken were in accordance with their duties.  Furthermore, the majority of the Company’s decisions in respect of the Scheme were taken by the Company’s management committee which met weekly and which also reviewed any Company communications issued to employees. The management committee was not required to report any decision or seek further authority from the Company’s board – which, after October 2001, consisted of Mr Ayres and one other director. For this reason, there is no reference to the actions taken by the Company in respect of the Scheme in formal meeting minutes. An exception is a minute of a meeting of the Company’s board on 19 December 2001 that formally notes the negotiations that had taken place between the Company and the Trustees. Neither Mr Ayres nor Mr Bower has received any direct financial gain from the actions taken by the Company.

Duty of trust and confidence 

115. In respect of the alleged breach of the duty of trust and confidence, the Company did not reach its decision lightly and had to work within the limited resources accorded to it by Parsons Corporation.  By securing the funding which it did, the Company significantly improved the position of both the members of the Scheme and its employees at the time.  If it had allowed the position to worsen, Parsons Corporation would have withdrawn its support completely, leaving the Scheme worse off and the Company facing a potential liquidation resulting in the loss of jobs for its employees, all of whom transferred employment to Parsons Europe under the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 1981.  Their employment was therefore safeguarded.  Mr McNulty’s letter of 10 October 2001 did not display a misunderstanding of the Scheme’s liabilities but was written in a simplified and illustrative manner.

The Compromise Agreement
116. The Trustees commenced winding up the Scheme following a Trustee resolution made on 21 November 2001 and effective from the following day.  This action was in accordance with the Compromise Agreement reached between the Company and the Trustees.  The Trustees had requested significantly more money than the Company had indicated was available (but not the full buy-out cost which it was considered would be unrealistic) and obtained (after negotiation) as much as they could in the circumstances.  The Trustees did not willingly fail to follow the legal advice they received with regard to obtaining an independent audit report but considered that they had sufficient financial information upon which to proceed without incurring further expenses and the costs of such a report.  They had already seen and reviewed the audited accounts of the Company as at December 2000 which demonstrated the significant level of working capital which had to be advanced by Parsons Corporation in order for the Company to remain solvent.  

117. The Trustees were also obliged to work within the timeframe available which required a decision by 31 December 2001. They were not, at the time of the Compromise Agreement, obliged to follow any process laid down in case law or statute. It was not necessary or feasible to obtain an independent auditor’s report since they had access to the audited accounts and to the knowledge that Mr Ayres and Mr Bower were able to supply.

Breach of contract of employment
118. Miss Pearson was entitled to membership of the Scheme subject to the terms of the Scheme’s Trust Deed and Rules prevailing.  She is entitled to the benefit which can be secured by the assets held within the trust for that purpose and any reference to ‘benefit’ has to be construed accordingly.  There is an overriding priority order set by the Pensions Schemes Act 1993 for cases where the assets of the Scheme are insufficient to meet the liabilities.  The promise of benefits in a pension scheme of this nature is subject to sufficient assets being available to fund them.  In the absence of sufficient assets, it is subject to the winding up rule and the application of the order of priority given to satisfying that promise.

Separate guarantee to Miss Pearson
119. The above submission applies in equal measure to the alleged separate guarantee from the Company to Miss Pearson as to the alleged breach of contractual promise.  In respect of the alleged guarantee, all communications between the Company and the members of the Scheme have to be interpreted in conjunction with all the Scheme documentation.

120. In relation to further allegations made by Miss Pearson (see paragraphs 83 to 85), the Respondents’ representative is concerned that Miss Pearson has not particularised these further, nor been invited to do so by my office. Nonetheless, submissions have been made.
121. None of the Trustees elected to transfer their benefits from the Scheme to the new plan.

122. The Company’s Human Resources Manager at the time of the closure of the Scheme, Mr Bettis, says that: 
“to the best of his knowledge he has no recollection of making any statements, at either general/public meetings with employees, or individual employee meetings, to the effect that employees would lose money if they transferred benefits out of the Scheme.”
123. Mr Ayres says that the Trustees were receiving advice from SNL and Counsel. They would not, under any circumstance, offer financial advice to Scheme members. He considers that Miss Pearson has misinterpreted the material provided by the Company and the Trustees at the time the Scheme was closed. He denies that he, or anyone connected with the Scheme, would have told members that they would lose money by transferring their accrued benefits to the new pension plan and says that he did not make that statement to Miss Pearson. He, and the other Trustees, acted at the time “in good faith” believing that accrued benefits were secured on the basis of a final salary promise from the Company, as represented in the Announcement issued to members by the Company.  Mr Ayres says that members, through the material issued to them, would have been aware of the investment risks and the lack of a final salary underpin associated with the new plan and that this “no doubt influenced most members to retain their benefits in the Scheme.”

124. Mr Camp, a Trustee of the Scheme at the time, also says that he believed, on the basis of the Company’s Announcement, that “accrued benefits were secure”. He says that this “was a key factor when the Trustees agreed to the Scheme closure.” In relation to statements he may have made, Mr Camp says:
“I do not recall making any statements other than those contained in the announcements made in the written communications from the Company and the Trustees…We believed at the time that our best option was to leave our benefits where they were rather than risk a transfer with its associated uncertainties.”
125. Mr Bower says that he did not make any representations to anyone either as a trustee or in any other role as to the security or lack of security of funds left in the Scheme. 

126. Solicitors representing the Respondents say that, within the period in which I requested a response to this allegation, they had not been able to contact the fourth Trustee who is presently working in Saudi Arabia. 

Trustees’ investment decisions
127. The Trustees at all times considered the underlying investments of the Scheme, taking professional advice from SNL (Mercer).  Following the winding up of the Scheme, it was agreed that given the status of the Scheme and its liabilities, it was essential to reduce the exposure to market volatility and also to minimise investment management charges. The Trustees’ and Company’s decision to move the investment of all the assets of the Scheme to gilts by February 2002 has significantly increased the assets of the Scheme for distribution on the winding up of the Scheme.

Disclaimer
128. The letter sent to all members on 19 March 2004 set out the options available to the Members for securing their Scheme benefits.  The reason for the inclusion of the Disclaimer was to prevent any member from choosing one of the options on offer and then, when the assets of the Scheme had already been dispersed, complaining that they were not satisfied with the amount that they received. The Member Announcement was subsequently issued on 23 April 2004 with the intention of providing comfort to those members involved in this complaint that should their complaint be upheld and more funds be made available to the Scheme, then members’ transfer values would subsequently be increased regardless of which option they had taken.  Subsequent to the Member Announcement, no queries have been raised save for Miss Pearson’s.

Legal costs
129. In the event that the Trustees may be personally liable, as suggested by Miss Pearson, they are protected by clause 48.1 of the Scheme’s Trust Deed, the exoneration clause. 
130. The Trustees said they had no alternative but to take their legal and other costs out of the Scheme assets. In a later submission, the Trustees’ legal representative confirmed that “no application had been made for any legal costs associated with the response to [Miss Pearson’s] complaint to be paid out of the Scheme. In addition Parsons Corporation has confirmed that they will pay any further costs incurred by the Trustees in dealing with this complaint.”

CONCLUSIONS

131. Although I have set out my conclusions in paragraphs which appear under various subheadings I am conscious that some paragraphs might fairly be duplicated, the same arguments and conclusion being at times relevant to each of those subheadings. 

132. Miss Pearson has suggested that I should defer making a decision on the matter and should instead hold an oral hearing which would provide an opportunity to probe the extent of the knowledge of the Trustees at the time of the Compromise Agreement and also enable me to explore exactly what assurances were given to her and some other members about whether they should retain accrued benefits in the Scheme. 

133. So far as concerns the Compromise Agreement I have come to the view (as expressed in later paragraphs) that knowledge (or lack of knowledge) on the part of the Trustees of the terms of the sale of the Company which was agreed almost immediately after the Compromise Agreement does not have the significance which Miss Pearson and others claim. The more significant fact is the Trustees had no knowledge of any external purchaser being willing to purchase the Company (or the Group of which it is was part) without the debt to the Scheme having being compromised. There is, however, no indication that any such purchaser existed so I can see no value in holding an Oral Hearing to explore that point.

134. An Oral Hearing would be a way to seek to resolve a conflict as to what assurances were offered by way of conversations in 1998 although I recognise the difficulty in witnesses now being able to provide reliable recollections of such conversations. In the event I do not think such a hearing is necessary. For reasons which I explain later, I have come to the view that the words which Miss Pearson and some of her colleagues say were used do not amount to the kind of guarantee that she claims and do not amount to misrepresentation of a kind which justifies any direction from me. 
135. Miss Pearson has commented that my investigation has focused on whether or not the decisions taken about the Scheme were made within appropriate regulatory guidelines and the Scheme rules. She feels aggrieved that the investigation has not focused on moral issues and the impact on her as a beneficiary under the Scheme, who will not receive the full benefit that she expected. I do recognise her (and other complainants’)   understandable sense of betrayal that the Company has not provided her with the amount of money necessary to honour the provision of pensions at the level which she would have expected. But that is a consequence of the poor trading and Parsons Corporation being unwilling to inject further finance for the purpose. My jurisdiction in the matter is limited to such actions as the Company itself took in relation to the Scheme and to the actions of the Trustees of the Scheme. I do indeed need to view those actions against the Regulatory background as it then was.
Disclosure of documents 
136. There have been numerous requests on behalf of Miss Pearson for the disclosure by the Company and the Trustees of documentation in respect of Miss Pearson’s complaints.  Some of these requests were dealt with during the preliminary stages of this case.  However, there remain a number of requests for documentation to which Miss Pearson still maintains that she is entitled.  I have not felt it necessary to detail the precise nature of each of these requests.  They are wide ranging and in essence Miss Pearson seeks the disclosure of a very large proportion of the communications between the Company and the Trustees as well as all documents and communications passing among those employees of the Company and the Parsons Corporation who had contact with the Scheme. The majority of the requests for disclosure made by Miss Pearson are unjustifiably wide and amount in my view to little more than a fishing exercise.  In these circumstances, I do not feel that it is appropriate to impose a significant burden upon the Company and the Trustees to comply with Miss Pearson’s requests in the hope that they might unearth evidence, the existence of which there is currently no indication. 

137. Miss Pearson and other members  believe the passing of monies to the Company’s parent, the Parsons Corporation, under the guise of trading services, was a deliberate ploy by the Company, and Parsons Corporation, to enable a situation to emerge where the business of the Company could be transferred for little value and the pension scheme closed and wound-up. Miss Pearson has requested that I carry out investigations into the Company’s financial transactions with its parent in an attempt to discover whether the activities recorded in the audited annual accounts were, as she alleges, a form of “financial engineering”. To do so would, however, in my view take me beyond the scope of investigating the matter which is strictly before me. If Miss Pearson suspects wrongdoing on the part of the Company, or its auditors, I do not believe that my office is the correct forum in which to pursue this.  
138. The annual audited accounts of Ralph M Parsons Company Limited and Parsons Energy and Chemical Group Limited as lodged with Companies House show that the Company made losses in a number of years towards 2001, when the sale of Parsons Corporation’s energy and chemicals group was agreed. The notes to the accounts record that the Company was experiencing a “net deficiency of assets” as early as 1992 and in the majority of years thereafter but that the auditors were able to prepare accounts on a going-concern basis because Parsons Corporation was prepared to provide continuing financial support.

139. In relation to Mr Bower and Mr Ayres, Miss Pearson has asked that I obtain a large quantity of documentation, including copies of all paper and electronic communications between Mr Bower and Mr Ayers. I have considered Miss Pearson’s request, but for reasons that are stated later in this determination, I do not consider it necessary to press for the disclosure that Miss Pearson asks. 
140. I have seen the Memorandum issued in 1999 by which the Group of which the Company was part was offered for sale.  
Alleged failure by the Trustees to obtain the necessary level of contributions from the Company

141. In respect of the validity of the power of amendment under Rule 57, Miss Pearson has requested that she be supplied with copies of previous trust deeds of the Scheme to ensure that Rule 57 was itself valid. The relevant Scheme documentation has been supplied to me and to Miss Pearson. I conclude from the documentation that there is no reason to believe that Rule 57 is invalid. 

142. The major criticism of the Trustees in respect of the closure of the Scheme appears to be that they should have demanded from the Company a higher contribution to fund the Scheme and should not have relented in the face of the Company’s refusal.  The Trustees’ actions need to be considered in the context in which their decisions were made. 

143. In early 1998, the Trustees became aware that the Company intended to modify the pension arrangements for its employees under the Scheme. Under the Rules of the Scheme (in particular Rule 11 and 62) the Company had the power to give notice to terminate the Scheme.  It was noted by Lovell White Durrant, who advised the Trustees by letter dated 5 May 1998, that “it is clear from the information that has been given to the Trustees that the Company is not threatening to wind up merely as a negotiating tactic but is genuinely considering it as the only other practical alternative to securing the Trustees’ consent to the proposed amendments.” Looking at the course of correspondence between the Company and the Trustees over this period and the minutes of the Trustees’ meetings, I see no reason to doubt that view. 

144. I do not accept the criticism made by Miss Pearson that the Trustees should have demanded increased contributions from the Company so that all the benefits under the Scheme could have been secured on a full buy-out basis, as soon as the Trustees became aware of the possibility that the Company would close the Scheme.  It was not until the amendment to the Scheme had actually been agreed between the Company and the Trustees that the Trustees knew for sure that the Scheme would be closed.  Even once the decision was taken that the Scheme would close, it did not automatically follow that the Scheme would also be wound up.  

145. Furthermore, in light of the contribution rules under the Scheme (namely Rule 11 and Rule 56.4 which expressly required the agreement of the Company) and the stance taken by the Company, it was reasonable for the Trustees to proceed on the basis that unless the Company agreed to the proposed funding levels and could afford to make such payments, then the winding up of the Scheme would be triggered. If the Trustees took the view that the amendments to the Scheme which were proposed by the Company served the interests of the members as a whole better than if a winding up of the Scheme were to be forced, then the Trustees were entitled to agree to the amendments and the level of contributions which accompanied them. 

146. During the course of 1998, the Trustees considered at length, among themselves and with their legal advisers, how best to respond to the proposals that had been made by the Company.  The Trustees considered the impact of the proposals on each class of members under the Scheme (most notably in their meeting dated 9 June 1998) and eventually arrived at the conclusion that the best course of action for the members as a whole was to agree to the Company’s proposals.  I have not been convinced by any of the submissions on behalf of Miss Pearson that this decision by the Trustees was inappropriate at the time it was taken.  I have seen no evidence that, at that stage, it would have served the members better for the Trustees not to have agreed to the proposed amendments and almost certainly to have triggered the winding up of the Scheme. 

147. Miss Pearson has referred me to the case of McClelland v Unisys New Zealand Ltd and my predecessor’s determination in the National Bus Scheme.  The New Zealand case is essentially about what the effect is on the employer’s requirement to pay contributions of the employer serving a notice to terminate its contributions. Both the New Zealand case and my predecessor’s determination in relation to the National Bus Company were decided before the decision of the High Court relating to the Bradstock Group pension scheme.

148. In my opinion, the Trustees cannot be criticised for failing to demand relentlessly the full buy-out value of the benefits under the Scheme when so doing is likely to have triggered the winding up of the Scheme (which the Trustees reasonably considered was not in the best interest of the Scheme members).

Roles of Greg Ayres and Curtis Bower

149. During the course of the closure of the Scheme in 1998 and also the decision to wind up the Scheme in 2001, Greg Ayres was the Finance Director of the Company and Curtis Bower was the Chief Finance Officer of Parsons Corporation.  Both individuals were also Trustees during this period.  

150. The occupation of dual positions by Mr Ayres and Mr Bower does not in itself constitute a breach of their duties as Trustees or amount to maladministration.  However, their dual capacity does give rise to the possibility that a conflict of interest would arise where the interests of the Company or Parsons Corporation and the Trustees (representing the Scheme members) diverge.  Such a possibility should have been obvious to all at the time Mr Ayres and Mr Bower first became Trustees. It is also evident in the exchanges which Mr Ayres had with himself in each of his dual roles: writing in forceful terms on behalf of the Trustees only to reply in robust terms on behalf of the Company. He cannot now be surprised that those whose pensions stand to be affected by the outcome have doubts about whether, despite his forceful rhetoric, he did have the interests of scheme members at heart. 
151. Miss Pearson relies upon the case of Hillsdown Holdings plc v The Pensions Ombudsman [1996] PLR 427 as support for the proposition that, given Messrs Ayres’ and Bower’s apparent conflict of duties, in the absence of an express provision in the rules permitting such actions, the burden of proof is upon Messrs Ayres and Bower to prove that any transaction in question was reasonable and proper. 

152. Rule 49 of the Scheme Rules deals with the personal interests of the Trustees.  It expressly provides that “a decision of, or exercise of a power or discretion by, the Trustees shall not be invalidated or questioned on the ground that any of the Trustees…had a direct or personal interest in the result of the decision or the exercise of the power or discretion.”  In order to take advantage of this protection, the Trustee must declare the nature of his interest at the meeting of the Trustees at which the decision is to be taken or the power or discretion is to be exercised.

153. Miss Pearson has submitted that Rule 49 does not cover the situation in which Mr Ayres and Mr Bower find themselves.  I disagree.  Rule 49.1 expressly protects Trustees who have “a direct or personal interest” in the particular action to be taken by the Trustees.  Either this phrase is sufficient on its face to include the situation in which a Trustee is interested in the action to be taken because of his position in the Company (or its parent) or it is permissible to construe the phrase also to cover indirect interests of which the present is certainly an example.  I think it would be artificial, unnecessarily rigid and not in accordance with the likely rationale behind the provision to exclude Trustees who were also directors of the Company (or its parent) from Rule 49’s protection.  

154. While I believe that Rule 49 should also cover indirect interests of Trustees, in such cases, the requirement to disclose any such interest becomes of the utmost importance.  I have not seen any evidence that either Mr Ayres or Mr Bower, at any time, gave notice to the Trustees of their potential conflict of interest.  However, I am satisfied that it was abundantly apparent to all Trustees that Mr Ayres and Mr Bower were employed by the Company and Parsons Corporation respectively and that at times they were in fact communicating the position of the Company (or Parsons Corporation).  A prime example acknowledging Mr Bower’s position is described in the minutes of the Trustees’ meeting dated 9 June 1998, which state that “although this is a Trustee meeting and CB [Curtis Bower] was participating as a Trustee, the other trustees nevertheless knew that CB, because of his role in the Company, had knowledge of the Company’s position”. 

155. In these circumstances, where all the Trustees were fully aware of the dual roles of Mr Ayres and Mr Bower, I do not think that the absence of a formal notice of their interests should deprive them of the protection provided by Rule 49.  

156. Just as I do not accept that the mere existence of the dual roles of Messrs Ayres and Bower constituted a breach of their duties as Trustees, I am also reluctant to accept that reliance can be placed upon Rule 49 without consideration of the steps that were actually taken by Mr Ayres and Mr Bower.  I think that consideration must be given in any case to the decisions made by the Trustees and the propriety of Mr Ayres and Mr Bower in contributing to those decisions. 

157. In this regard, I have considered carefully the minutes of the Trustees’ meetings over the relevant periods and the communications between the Trustees and the Company.  It is clear that on occasions Mr Ayres and Mr Bower communicated the position and objectives of the Company to the other Trustees.  Adopting this stance, without any concealment of their status, can only have served to assist the Trustees in making a more informed decision as to how best to respond to the Company’s proposals.  I note that, for example, in the Trustee meeting of 9 June 1998 Mr Bower was asked to present the Company’s view. Miss Pearson may question the veracity of the information provided in such circumstances but Mr Bower’s comments are not inconsistent with the facts as presented in published company information, such as the annual audited accounts and Directors’ reports.  The minutes of the Trustee meetings show that although Mr Bower in particular, and Mr Ayres occasionally, voiced the Company’s standpoint, at no time, in my opinion did either attempt to exert pressure on the other Trustees in a manner which would prefer their employer’s interests over those of the Scheme members.  I also note that the decisions taken by the Trustees in respect of the closure and winding up of the Scheme were all taken unanimously.  Just as there is no evidence to suggest that the member Trustees (whose role was expressly permitted under Rule 49.4) acted inappropriately (e.g. out of a conflict of interest to prefer the class of membership to which they belonged over other classes of membership) there is also no evidence to support the contention that Messrs Ayres and Bower acted inappropriately. 

158. Miss Pearson has suggested that the member Trustees may have reached a different decision had it not been for information provided to them by Mr Bower and Mr Ayres. That is somewhat speculative but in any event I am inclined to ask, so what? Provided the information supplied was relevant, the Trustees could be expected to give it due weight. Looking at the various minutes before me I see that a large number of Trustee meetings were attended by Mr Hazell, the Company’s pensions manager. Most meetings were attended by the Trustees’ legal adviser and pension consultant so that the member Trustees generally had expert advisers on hand if they wanted to seek opinions or advice. In addition, from the Trustee meeting minutes recording the detailed discussions that took place, it does not seem to me that the member Trustees simply accepted the information they were given. It is also clear that they were aware of the gravity of the decisions they were making. I see no useful purpose in inviting the Trustees now to revisit their perceptions through the medium of an oral hearing.

159. Thus I see little wrong with the information which was provided. A more difficult question is whether, wearing their Trustee hats, Messrs Ayres and Bower should have offered information which they may have obtained through their senior positions within the Company. Thus they knew more about the potential purchaser waiting in the wings to complete the purchase once the compromise agreement had been reached. I note that there was no express mention of that purchaser in the letter to the Trustees from which I have quoted in paragraph 36 and indeed I have not seen evidence that the contents of that letter were actually shared with the Trustees before the compromise agreement was reached. I have more to say about that disclosure of information (or lack of it) in the next section of my conclusions. 

160. In the context of considering the current allegation I simply observe that the two Company Directors were in an almost impossible situation and should probably have sought to stand aside from the Trustees’ final decision-making on the compromise point. Having said that, I certainly cannot reach a view, on the balance of probabilities, that the Trustees would have taken any different decision had that happened.  In such a situation the remaining Trustees would have had to operate without any inside knowledge to which the two Company Directors were privy. No doubt the Trustees would have been in a better position if they could have been sure that those Directors were fully disclosing to them all such privy information, a point with which I deal in the next section. 
161. For the above reasons, I do not uphold Miss Pearson’s complaint over the dual roles of Mr Ayres and Mr Bower and the actions taken by both individuals in those roles. 

Duty of trust and confidence

162. It would be inappropriate for me to attempt to examine the motives of Parsons Corporation which is an entirely separate legal entity from the Company and one for which the Company cannot be held responsible.  In terms of providing funds for the Scheme, the Company, particularly in view of its own trading position, had been restricted to contributing the money that had been made available to it by Parsons Corporation.  If the amounts provided by Parsons Corporation were insufficient to secure the full benefits of the members under the Scheme, then the Company cannot be criticised on this ground alone.

163. Miss Pearson and others argue that the Company was not as dependent on the Parsons Corporation as has been claimed but I need to set that alongside the Auditor’s note that it was only because Parsons Corporation was prepared to continue to provide financial support that the Company’s accounts could continue to be presented on an ongoing concern basis.

164. Miss Pearson and others suggest that the new company to which the Company’s business was initially transferred was essentially the same company but with a new name and that it became a profitable entity and remains so to date. I assume the implication is that had such a sale not taken place (at what she asserts is an artificially low price) the Company could itself have continued as a viable going concern. I note that the new Company was not encumbered by the debt owed to Parsons Corporation of around £19m at the time of the transfer or, of course, by the liability to the Company’s pension fund. Both of those factors may well have affected the ability to trade profitably. 

165. The accounts do indeed show that the Company traded with its parent over a number of years but I do not consider this to be unusual. I certainly do not rule out the possibility that such trading may have been part of an exercise deliberately to deflate the profitability of the UK company: many international conglomerates will for example seek to order their financial affairs of companies in the group so as to achieve the most favourable net position as far as taxation is concerned. Tax avoidance, as opposed to tax evasion, is regarded as legitimate business behaviour. No doubt it is also in the interests of such conglomerates to present accounts of subsidiary companies which are to be sold externally in such a way as to emphasise their maximum profitability whereas there may be advantage in not paying for any goodwill where an internal transaction is concerned. The “financial engineering” to which Miss Pearson and others refer is as consistent with those kinds of motivation as with any more sinister motivation she has in mind. 

166. The Directors’ Reports accompanying the accounts do indeed refer to some new projects being undertaken, in 2001, the time when the Compromise Agreement was under consideration.  But that is not to say that such projects could be expected to generate sufficient profits to enable the Company to provide greater funding for the Scheme than was being offered. I note that by 2001 Mr Bower was saying that the Corporation’s Management were unwilling for reasons he advanced (of which significant losses in the UK operation was but one) to fund the scheme at the MFR level which UK law then required.  The unpalatable fact is that if an overseas holding company was willing to allow its UK subsidiary to shed its moral responsibility to meet the promise to provide the necessary funding for its pension scheme there was little legal power available to prevent this. The Trustees needed to form a view as to whether there was an element of bluff, and if so how much, in the Corporation’s stance. It is important to bear in mind that they needed to form that view without the benefit of hindsight and that while the amount of the bird in hand, (or at least being offered) was known, the amount that could be obtained if the trustees did dig their heels in and possibly put the UK Company into liquidation was less certain.    
167. Miss Pearson and others have made much of the fact that the firm which has subsequently acquired the business of which the Company was part is trading profitably and suggest that in reality this has always been the case, with the implication that the Trustees settled too readily for the terms of the proposed compromise. That the Company (or the Group to which it belonged) was being offered for sale as a profitable concern in the period before the Compromise Agreement was signed needs to be set alongside the fact that there is no evidence of any external buyer being willing to acquire the Company or Group at that time.  That a later buyer has since traded profitably does not lead me to conclude that the Trustees should be criticised for agreeing the compromise in December 2001. 

168. I have already indicated that I see nothing wrong with such information as the two senior officers of the Company shared with their fellow Trustees but that I was more troubled by the question of whether further information should have been shared. I see that as being more a responsibility arising in the context of the Company’s duty of trust and confidence rather than as a personal conflict of interest for the two particular trustees.
169. Miss Pearson and others have, to an extent, focussed on the fact that information was not shared to the effect that, if a compromise deal could be reached, a buyer was waiting to complete the purchase. But that was not really the information that would be key to the Trustees’ decision on whether to effect a compromise. What the Trustees needed to know was whether a buyer was available who would be prepared to complete (and take responsibility for the pension fund) even if there were no compromise agreement. 

170. I do recognise that the Trustees only had the Company’s word that no buyer could be found who would have been willing to acquire the business with that associated liability.  Had there been such a willing purchaser there would be substance in the argument that the Company would have been in breach of its duty of good faith had it not informed the Trustees of that possibility. But, like the Trustees, I have no reason to believe that such a potential purchaser existed.   

171. For Miss Pearson and others to argue that had the intra-group accounting been differently arranged over a number of years so as to make the Company a more attractive offer to potential buyers takes me into too speculative an area. 

172. I have noted that Miss Pearson, supported by a former director of the Company, claims that decisions ascribed to the Company were not being formally taken by its Board. Whether Mr Ayres had actual authority to respond on behalf of the Company to the Trustees’ approaches is not clear. But I have no doubt that he had ostensible authority. I note also that there has been no attempt by the Company to distance itself from the responses he gave on its behalf.

173. I do not accept that the Company, by failing fully to fund the benefits under the Scheme at a time when the Company itself was not in a position to make these funds available,  is in breach of the implied duty of trust and confidence which it owes to its employees.  The Company cannot legally be held responsible for the conditions imposed upon the funding made available to it by Parsons Corporation.  Conditions as to the timing of when the section 75 debt compromise had to be accepted and the possible consequences of not accepting the proposals did not constitute threats to undermine the relationship of trust and confidence between the Company and its employees but instead reflected the terms of funding by Parsons Corporation.

174. Miss Pearson has raised the fact that the Company took a contributions holiday yet continued to charge its customers in respect of pension contributions.  I am not convinced that this is a particularly relevant factor in this case.  What costs were to be recouped by the Company from its customers is irrelevant to the entitlement of the members under the Scheme.   It is not the fact that the Company continued to charge its customers in respect of pensions contributions during the contribution holiday that has caused any injustice to Miss Pearson but the fact that the Company did not fully fund the Scheme. 
175. Miss Pearson has sought to place reliance upon a letter from James McNulty, Chief Executive of Parsons Corporation, which it is alleged displayed a clear misunderstanding of pensions liabilities under the Scheme.  I regard that letter as having been written in a simplified manner merely to emphasise the point that Parsons Corporation was not willing to fund an open-ended liability, which the continuation of the Scheme would entail.  

176. As is apparent from the way Mr Ayres was corresponding with his alter ego, there are times when a company, as the financial sponsor of a pensions scheme, and the Trustees of the scheme can find themselves in conflict. The Trustees’ concern is to protect the interests of the Scheme. The Company also needs to bear in mind its responsibilities towards its shareholders.  It does seem to me that in such situations, despite the need to have regard to its duty of trust and confidence the Company is nevertheless entitled to keep some matters confidential from the trustees and vice versa. Both sides would, for instance, be able to claim legal professional privilege in relation to the separate legal advice taken as to how the conflict might be resolved.

177. In my view the Company was entitled not to reveal to the Trustees the terms on which a purchaser was willing to acquire the Company’s business if able to do so without acquiring also the financial liabilities associated with the Scheme. I can see no reason myself to seek details from the Purchaser of those terms. 

178. I do recognise the understandable sense of betrayal felt by Miss Pearson that the Company has not provided the amount of money necessary to honour the provision of pension at the level which she expected. But that is not itself a breach of the duty of trust and confidence and is primarily the responsibility of the Company’s US parent.
179. I do not uphold Miss Pearson’s complaint that the actions of the Company in respect of the Scheme have breached the implied duty of trust and confidence which it owes to its employees.

The Compromise Agreement

180. As was later highlighted in Bradstock, the Trustees were entitled to compromise the Section 75 debt on the Company that would arise on the winding up of the Scheme if they reasonably thought that it was in the members’ best interests to do so.

181. For much of 2001, negotiations took place between the Trustees and the Company as to how to fund the deficit in the Scheme which had been revealed by the Actuary’s MFR calculation.  However, the Company’s position soon became clear that it (in reliance on funding from Parsons Corporation) could no longer afford to support the Scheme on an ongoing basis and the Company sought the winding up of the Scheme.  The Company set out its proposals as to how the winding up should proceed and what further contributions it should make.

182. The Trustees considered the proposals of the Company, made counter-proposals of their own and, when the final position had been reached, reconsidered whether compromising the section 75 debt would be in the members’ best interests.  In reaching their decision, the Trustees took detailed legal advice.  This legal advice included that given by Ashurst Morris Crisp in early October 2001 that the Trustees should obtain an independent auditor’s report on the assets and viability of the Company. The Trustees did not obtain such a report before agreeing to the compromise.  

183. Perhaps ideally an independent auditor’s report would have been obtained at the direction of the Trustees. However, the Trustees were acting under time constraints and were already in receipt of the Company’s financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2000 which contained audited accounts.  In these circumstances, I do not think it was unreasonable for the Trustees to take the view that there was not time for a useful independent auditor’s report to be obtained and that the financial statements of the Company could be relied upon.  I also believe that it was not inappropriate, given the time constraints, for the Trustees to make use, without independent verification, of the information about the Company’s financial position known to Mr Ayres. They were also well aware of Parsons Corporation’s stance.

184. Miss Pearson correctly says that there is little evidence of the Trustees’ decision-making process about whether to obtain an independent auditor’s report. However, the minutes of the Trustee meeting held on 19 September 2001 show that the issue of Parsons Corporation’s ability to supply funds to the Company to enable it to meet its obligations was discussed. No conclusion was reached but Mr Bower said that, in his view, “the company wanted to draw a line under its obligation towards the Scheme…” The minutes of the meeting on 24 October 2001 say that “after prolonged discussion, and reference to correspondence, and guidance from the advisers…the Trustees should weigh up the Company’s funding offer and move expeditiously to an early winding-up of the Scheme.” The Trustees’ legal adviser and pension consultant were present at that later meeting (as indeed they had been at the earlier meeting). It appears that the legal adviser did not press the desirability of complying with the earlier advice to obtain an independent auditor’s report.

185. The effect of the compromise agreement and the subsequent sale of the business means that it will never confidently be known whether or not the Company could have survived as a going concern had there been no such transactions. I am aware that a number of members have concluded from the subsequent, apparently successful, trading under its new owners that the Company’s financial position was not as dire as the Trustees were, in their view, led to believe. But that conclusion seems to me to rest not only on hindsight but also on a failure to recognise that the new owners took on the business without the burden of debt, and obligations to the Scheme, which remained with the Company. Considering the position of the Trustees at the time it seems to me that it was not unreasonable on the basis of the information they had, and faced with the time pressures that existed, for them to conclude that they should enter into the compromise agreement without commissioning and being able to consider     an independent auditor’s report. 
186. As the Trustees point out, there was also no guarantee that the costs of carrying out the independent auditor’s report would have been met by the Company rather than further reducing the assets of the Scheme.

187. In these circumstances, I am satisfied that the Trustees did take reasonable steps to ensure that the Compromise was the best deal that could be struck with the Company and that they reasonably concluded that agreeing to it was in the best interests of the members rather than forcing the Company’s liquidation through the Section 75 debt. 

Breach of contract of employment

188. If an employee’s contract of employment expressly states the benefits that he or she shall receive on retirement and that those benefits are to be fully funded by the employer, then, in the absence of vitiating circumstances, the employee will have a claim for breach of contract if the full benefits are not provided.  No doubt, Miss Pearson would argue that this is essentially the situation that we have in this case.  For my part, I do not agree.

189. There was no express promise in Miss Pearson’s employment contract that she would receive stated levels of pension benefits.  Instead, she became entitled to join the Scheme and benefit from its provisions.  Accordingly, the obligations owed by the Company to Miss Pearson in respect of the pension benefits under her employment contract were provided by the Rules of the Scheme (the latter essentially being incorporated by reference into the former).  The fact that Miss Pearson’s right to membership of the Scheme was included in her employment contract does not impose upon the Company any further obligations than those provided for under the Rules of the Scheme.  

190. Under the Rules of the Scheme, a distinction has to be made between the funding obligations placed upon the Company and the benefits intended to be provided for the members.  In deciding whether the Company is in breach of its obligations under the Scheme, focus must be placed on the actual obligations applying to the Company.  Under the Scheme, the most relevant obligations of the Company are detailed in Rule 11.1 and Rule 56.4.  These Rules contain the funding obligations with which the Company must comply.  So long as the Company meets these funding obligations, there will be no breach of its obligations under the Scheme Rules and, therefore, no breach of Miss Pearson’s employment contract.  In the event that there is a deficit in the Scheme on winding up, then the Rules also deal with the steps that are to be taken and the order of priorities. 

191. In the circumstances of this case, the Company has in fact met its funding obligations in accordance with Rules 11.1 and 56.4 since it has agreed with the Trustees the best course of action to take.  In this respect, I do not accept that, given that the Trustees had agreed an appropriate funding level with the Company (taking into account, among other things, the Company’s level of solvency) as being in the best interests of the members (and in accordance with the Company’s funding obligations under the Scheme Rules), a member could then claim for breach of their employment contract (when their employment contract only provided for membership of the Scheme).  

192. Miss Pearson has referred to the cases of Seifert v The Pensions Ombudsman [1997] 4 All ER 947 and Mihlenstedt v Barclays Bank International Limited [1989] PLR 91.  Seifert provides little assistance in the present case since the issue under discussion was not addressed in any detail at all.  In Mihlenstedt, Nourse LJ stated that an employer must procure for its employee “so far as it lay within its power” the benefits to which he or she was entitled under the employer’s pension scheme.  However, the reference in Mihlenstedt concerned an employer’s consent to early retirement under the relevant pension scheme provisions. I do not see that case as determining that there  will automatically be a breach of a member’s contract of employment where (as in the circumstances before me) ) the employer is unable to fund fully the benefits under the relevant scheme and the scheme rules provided for such a  possibility.  As noted above, whether a breach has occurred will depend upon the terms of the contract of employment and usually also the rules of the pension scheme.

193. Therefore, I reject Miss Pearson’s complaint that the failure to provide her full-scale benefits under the Scheme constitutes a breach of her contract of employment.

Separate guarantee to Miss Pearson

194. I do not accept that the communications from the Company, or the oral assurances that she says she received from Mr Ayres, were sufficient to amount to any kind of separate contractual warranty that the Company was guaranteeing Miss Pearson’s benefits under the Scheme.  The reference to benefits under the Scheme being “guaranteed” was a shorthand description of the distinction between the existing basis of benefits under the Scheme and the basis under the new DC Plan.  I do not think that the term “guaranteed” should be taken to indicate that the Company was accepting any further liability beyond that which it owed under the Scheme.  

195. Other members of the scheme have suggested to me that the reality is that their “preserved” benefits have not in the event been preserved. But the word is being used in two different contexts: benefits were preserved in the scheme as opposed to being transferred. But the payment of such preserved benefits effectively depended on the Company meeting the promise which underlies a defined benefit scheme. The Company defaulted on that promise. 

196. Miss Pearson says that she was not made aware, at the time of the Scheme’s closure in November 1998, that it might be wound up. But wind-up of the Scheme was not in contemplation at that time. The decision to wind up the Scheme was taken later, when the deteriorating funding position was identified in 2001. That a Scheme might be wound up at some future time could never be ruled out. 
Trustees’ investment decisions

197. From the minutes of the Trustees’ meetings during 1998 and subsequently, it is clear that the Trustees were alive to the need to review their investment policy.  The Trustees received investment advice, most notably from SNL (Mercer).  In their letter to the Trustees dated 19 November 1998, Mercer outlined an appropriate investment strategy for the Scheme following the decision to operate on a closed basis.  A new SIP was prepared by Mercer on 8 February 1999 which aimed to ensure that the Trustees could meet their obligations to the members of the Scheme and maintain funds at a level to meet the MFR. A new SIP was drawn up in June 2000. 

198. In light of the decision to wind up the Scheme, a paper was presented by Mercer to the Trustees at their meeting on 3 December 2001 recommending a change in investment strategy.  A new SIP was drawn up and dated 22 February 2002 which aimed to protect the accrued benefits of the members by matching buy-out liabilities with conventional fixed-interest and index-linked gilts.

199. In light of the above revisions of the SIP in response to the changing character of the Scheme and also other less extensive reviews of investment policy, I am satisfied that the Trustees did satisfactorily monitor the Scheme’s investments and received appropriate advice in this regard.  Furthermore, I do not accept that the investment policy that was pursued after the Scheme’s closure but prior to the decision to wind up the Scheme was inappropriate.  The investment policy was changed to reflect the shift in the nature of how liabilities would be secured on winding up, once the decision to wind up the Scheme was finally taken.

Legal costs

200. I understand that the Trustees no longer dispute that any of their legal costs associated with this complaint should not be paid from the Scheme assets and that Parsons Corporation have confirmed that they will pay any such costs incurred by the Trustees.  The indemnity given by Parsons Corporation arises out of its obligations under the Compromise.  That this was the case should have been plain to the Trustees who should never have contended that their costs would be deducted from the Scheme’s assets. The contrary information given by the Trustees amounted to maladministration on their part.  

201. If indeed Miss Pearson has incurred legal costs directly as a result of that maladministration then they should be reimbursed and I am making a direction accordingly.  Although I have noted what she says about distress being caused to her I note also that she was not in fact dissuaded from making a complaint and am not persuaded that I should make any financial award to recognise such distress.
Disclaimer

202. I accept that the issuing of the Disclaimer by the Trustees may have been in accordance with standard procedure for trustees to protect themselves when winding up a pension scheme.  However, given the ongoing complaints in respect of the Scheme and the large number of members affected, the Disclaimer should not have been issued without reassurance from the Trustees that it would not prejudice those complaints.  This reassurance did arrive a month later in the form of the Member Announcement. 

203. In these circumstances, I consider that the sending of the Disclaimer without explanation was an act of maladministration on the part of the Trustees.  This maladministration was remedied in part by the subsequent Member Announcement. I acknowledge Miss Pearson’s claim that the Trustees’ actions caused her distress but again do not make any direction about this.  

DIRECTION

204. Such reasonable costs as have been directly incurred by Miss Pearson in consequence of the statement that the costs of the Trustees pursuing the matter would fall upon the Scheme funds should be reimbursed to her by the Trustees. If the parties are not able to reach agreement upon the extent of those costs then they may apply to me for them to be taxed.  

DAVID LAVERICK

Pensions Ombudsman

12 March 2007
RELEVANT SCHEME RULES, LEGISLATION AND DEFINITIONS

Scheme Rules

The Scheme Rules contain, amongst others, the following:

11.  EMPLOYERS’ CONTRIBUTIONS

Ordinary annual contributions

11.1   Each Employer shall pay contributions each year to the Plan in respect of its Employees who are Members.  An Employer’s contributions shall be paid at a rate which:

11.1.1    from time to time the Trustees, after obtaining Actuarial Advice, shall agree with the Principal Employer to be necessary to provide the benefits under the Plan for and in respect of the Members, taking into account any contributions payable by Members under Rule 12 (Members’ contributions) and any additional liability falling on an Employer under Rule 10 (Maternity Absence); and

11.1.2     will not prejudice Approval.

Special contributions

11.2     The Principal Employer or, if appropriate an Employer, with the consent of the Trustees, may at any time, after obtaining Actuarial Advice, pay a special contribution to the Plan for any purpose consistent with the purposes of the Plan.  The Trustees shall apply the contribution solely for the purpose stated by the Employer, provided that this does not prejudice Approval.

Manner and frequency

11.3       Each Employer’s contributions must be paid to the Trustees, or as otherwise directed by the Trustees, at such intervals as the Trustees decide.

Termination and suspension

11.4    An Employer may at any time reduce, suspend or terminate its contributions to the Plan by giving three months’ written  notice to the Principal Employer, the Trustees and to all its Employees who are Members. Any notice of reduction, suspension or termination of contributions is without prejudice to the Employer’s obligation to pay contributions to the Plan in respect of the period before the effective date of the notice.  Any notice of termination extends to any liability of the Members who are Employees of the Employer to contribute to the Plan.

11.5    If an Employer terminates its contributions under sub-rule 11.4, the provisions of Rule 60 (Withdrawal of Participating Employers) will then apply.  If the Principal Employer terminates its contributions under sub-rule 11.4, the provisions of Rule 63 (Winding up the Plan) will then apply.

49.  PERSONAL INTEREST OF TRUSTEES

49.1 Subject to sub-rule 49.2, a decision of, or the exercise of a power or discretion by, the Trustees shall not be invalidated or questioned on the ground that any of the Trustees (or the directors of a corporate Trustee) had a direct or personal interest in the result of the decision of the exercise of the power or discretion.

49.2  Where a Trustee (or the director of a corporate Trustee) is interested in any decision of, or exercise of any power or discretion by, the Trustee, he shall declare the nature of his interest at the meeting of the Trustees at which the decision is to be taken or the power or discretion is to be exercised.

49.3  A general notice given to the Trustees by a Trustee to the effect that he has a direct or personal interest in any decision or in the exercise of any power relating to the Plain is deemed a sufficient declaration of interest.  No such notice is of effect unless either it is given at a meeting of the Trustees or the Trustee takes reasonable steps to ensure that it is brought up and read out to the next meeting of the Trustees after it is given.

49.4 A Trustee (or the director of a Corporate Trustee) who is a Member may exercise his powers and execute his duties as a Trustee (or director) regardless of his membership and may receive appropriate benefits under the Plan.

49.5 A Trustee (or the director of a Corporate Trustee) who is a beneficiary under the Plan may retain for his own absolute benefit (subject to the conditions of the Plan) all the benefits accruing to him as a beneficiary or otherwise.

56.  FUND SURPLUSES AND DEFICIENCIES 

Fund Deficiency

56.4 If at any time the Actuary certifies that there would be insufficient assets to meet the Plan’s liabilities, the Trustees, after consulting the Actuary, shall specify the action required to be taken by the Principal Employer to restore and secure the solvency of the Fund.  If the Principal Employer does not agree to take such action, then the trustees may give notice to the Principal Employer that the Plan shall be wound up in accordance with Rule 63 (Winding up the Plan).

57.  AMENDING THE PLAN

57.1 The Trustees may with the consent of the Principal Employer at any time alter, amend, extend, modify or add to all or any of the provisions of this Deed or the Rules, subject to the other provisions of this Rule 57.

57.2 No alteration, amendment, extension, modification or addition may be made which would prejudice Approval.  The Contracting-out Rules may not be altered without the consent of the Occupational Pensions Board.

57.3 Any alteration, amendment, extension, modification or addition shall be effected by a supplemental deed executed by the Principal Employer and the trustees in the case of the Deed and the Rules and by a resolution signed by the Principal Employer and the Trustees in the case of the Rules may have future or retrospective effect and shall be binding on all Employers.

57.4 No alternation, amendment, extension, modification or addition may be made which would alter the main purpose of the Plan or permit the payment or transfer of any part of the assets of the Plan to any of the Employers (unless such alteration would not result in the Plan ceasing to be treated as an Exempt Approved Scheme) or would extend the trusts of the Plan beyond the Perpetuity period (as described in Rule 67).

62. TERMINATION OF THE PLAN

Reasons for termination

62.1 The Plan shall terminate for any of the following reasons (whichever occurs first):

62.1.1 The Principal Employer gives 3 months’ written notice to the Trustees that it is terminating, under Rule 11…its liability to contribute to the Plan; or

62.1.2 The Actuary certifies that the Fund is insolvent and the Employers fail, in the Trustees’ opinion and within a period specified by the Trustees in a written notice to the Employers, to comply with the action required to remedy the position as decided by the Trustees after consulting the Actuary; or

62.1.3 The Trustees decide on Actuarial Advice that the contributions the Employers are paying, and are expected to pay in the future, are so low that the financial position of the Fund is prejudiced; or

62.1.4 The Trustees decide that the intentions and objects of the Plan have become significantly different to those which were relevant at the start of the Plan; or

62.1.5 The Principal Employer fails, in the opinion of the Trustees, to comply with any provisions of the Plan which apply to it as the Principal Employer and fails, within a specified period by the Trustees in a written notice to the Employers, to comply with the action required to remedy the position as decided by the Trustees after consulting the Actuary; or

62.1.6 The Principal Employer becomes insolvent and an insolvency practitioner or the official receiver is appointed to act for the Principal Employer or the Principal Employer ceases for any other reason (except for the purposes of reconstruction or amalgamation) to carry on business or ceases to exist and no other company or undertaking succeeds it for the purposes of the Plan and within a period the Trustees think appropriate…

Legislation

Pensions Act 1995 – Section 75

75  Deficiencies in the assets 

(1)  If, in the case of an occupational pension scheme which is not a money purchase scheme, the value at the applicable time of the assets of the scheme is less than the amount at that time of the liabilities of the scheme, an amount equal to the difference shall be treated as a debt due from the employer to the trustees or managers of the scheme.

 (2)  If in the case of an occupational pension scheme which is not a money purchase scheme¾

(a)  a relevant insolvency event occurs in relation to the employer, and 

(b) a debt due from the employer under subsection (1) has not been discharged at the time that event occurs, 

the debt in question shall be taken, for the purposes of the law relating to winding up, bankruptcy or sequestration as it applies in relation to the employer, to arise immediately before that time.

 (3)
In this section "the applicable time" means - 

(a) if the scheme is being wound up before a relevant insolvency event occurs in relation to the employer, any time when it is being wound up before such an event occurs, and 

(b) otherwise, immediately before the relevant insolvency event occurs. 

 (4)
For the purposes of this section a relevant insolvency event occurs in relation to the employer - 

(a) in England and Wales - 

(i) where the employer is a company, when it goes into liquidation, within the meaning of section 247(2) of the Insolvency Act 1986, or 

(ii) where the employer is an individual, at the commencement of his bankruptcy, within the meaning of section 278 of that Act, or 

…

(5)
For the purposes of subsection (1), the liabilities and assets to be taken into account, and their amount or value, must be determined, calculated and verified by a prescribed person and in the prescribed manner.

 (6)
In calculating the value of any liabilities for those purposes, a provision of the scheme which limits the amount of its liabilities by reference to the amount of its assets is to be disregarded.

(7) This section does not prejudice any other right or remedy which the trustees or managers may have in respect of a deficiency in the scheme's assets…

Definition

Compromising an employer’s debt - Bradstock agreements

High Court approval, in June 2002, established a principle that trustees of a pension scheme could agree with the employer to accept less than the full statutory debt (Pensions Act 1995, Section 75) where it would be in the best interest of beneficiaries under the scheme to do so. 
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